WHITE PAPER

COUNCIL OF ECONOMIC ADVISERS & OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

Assessing Methods to Integrate the Physical Risks and Transition Risks and Opportunities of Climate Change into the President's Macroeconomic Forecast

April 2024





1

SUMMARY

The Federal Government has broad exposure to the physical risks of climate change and the transition risks associated with the global shift away from carbon-intensive energy sources. At the same time, the shift to clean energy provides a generational opportunity to create new sources of economic growth. These transitional opportunities and challenges affect future output growth and other economic outcomes and are therefore relevant to the President's Budget. Building on nearly three years of work completed under Section 6(a) of Executive Order 14030 on Climate-Related Financial Risk, this paper presents a step-by-step methodology for quantifying these risks and opportunities into a macroeconomic forecasting framework with the goal of more accurately projecting near-term macroeconomic outcomes relevant to the President's Budget. For each step, we assess available tools, methodological tradeoffs, and directions for further research based on the current literature.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction
2. Methodology Overview
3. Methodological Considerations 11
A. Physical Risk
Step 1: Project global GHG emissions
Step 2: Translate projections of GHG emissions to changes in local environmental conditions
Step 3: Map changes in local environmental conditions to macroeconomic indicators 13
Step 4: Project changes in macroeconomic indicators relative to the baseline forecast 23
B. Transition Risks and Opportunities
Step 1: Select a modeling framework
Step 2: Project economic and technological determinants
Step 3: Compute sector-specific changes
Step 4: Compute economy-wide changes
4. Conclusion
References
Appendix A: Additional Details on Downscaling
Appendix B: Approaches for Physical Risk Projections
Appendix C: Details on the Global Change Analysis Model

1. Introduction

A growing body of literature documents how the effects of climate change, including rising temperatures, sea levels, and natural disaster frequency and intensity, affect macroeconomic outcomes such as productivity, labor supply, capital stocks, and overall economic output (e.g., Jay et al. 2023; Hsiang et al. 2023). Similarly, accumulating evidence demonstrates that transitioning to a clean energy system—one with net-zero emissions of greenhouse gases (GHGs)—will require a structural transformation of a scale, scope, and speed not previously seen, a process that is also likely to affect macroeconomic outcomes. Yet the U.S. Government's Budget forecast does not explicitly account for the macroeconomic effects of climate change nor the transition to a clean energy economy.¹ Accounting for these factors could have important policy implications since the macroeconomic forecast informs the Administration's policy proposals and the budgets that Agencies submit to the Office of Management and Budget (OMB).

To enhance the Government's ability to respond to the risks and opportunities arising from climate change and the clean energy transition, President Biden signed Executive Order (EO) 14030 on Climate-Related Financial Risk, directing work across the Federal Government to "advance consistent, clear, intelligible, comparable, and accurate disclosure of climate-related financial risk." Section 6(a) of the EO tasks the Council of Economic Advisers (CEA) and OMB to "identify the primary sources of Federal climate-related financial risk exposure and develop methodologies to quantify climate risk within the economic assumptions and the long-term budget projections of the President's Budget." This directive complements others within EO 14030, such as assessments of programmatic climate risk to the Federal Budget, as well as broader actions across the Federal Government to understand the economics consequences of climate change. Some of these efforts-for example, estimating the social cost of GHGsconsider how climate change impacts the economy and social welfare beyond what macroeconomic indicators capture. Because the scopes of these different measures are sufficiently distinct, care needs to be taken when considering how advances in estimating the effects of climate change on measures of social welfare more broadly may inform estimates of the effects of climate change on macroeconomic assumptions underpinning budget forecasts, and vice versa.

This paper builds on prior work responding to the EO by presenting a step-by-step approach to quantifying climate risks in a macroeconomic forecasting framework to inform the President's Budget. Each step in our approach features important decision points for those engaging in this work. We separate climate risk into two components: (1) the physical risks associated with the effects of climate change on economic outcomes and (2) the transition risks and opportunities associated with the effects of the clean energy transition. Quantifying the economic effects of

¹ Following the literature's convention, we refer to an economy with net-zero GHG emissions as a "clean energy economy". However, as illustrated in the United States' Long-Term Strategy, achieving net-zero GHG emissions across the economy will also require transitions independent of the production and use of energy (<u>Department of State and Executive Office of the President 2021</u>). In our approach, we address the transitions of both energy and non-energy sectors needed to achieve net-zero GHG emissions, as well as measures related to resiliency and adaptation.

physical risks requires estimating changes to environment and weather systems due to GHG emissions. Quantifying the economic effects of transition risks and opportunities requires accounting for both mitigation and adaptation actions as well as individuals' and firms' behavioral changes in the face of what potentially could be an historically swift structural transformation.²

This paper's contribution is twofold: (1) to identify key decision points in the process of accounting for climate change in macroeconomic forecasting; and (2) to assess available tools, methodological tradeoffs, and directions for further research based on the current literature. The literature has made considerable advances in recent years, and improvements in available tools allow us to more robustly account for the macroeconomic implications of physical risks and the transition to a clean energy economy. However, several areas remain where further research would be particularly useful for quantifying climate risk both in the context of the macroeconomic forecast for the President's Budget and more broadly:

- Most macroeconomic analyses draw on climate information at coarse spatial and temporal resolutions (e.g., national average annual temperature or precipitation). However, many of climate change's most consequential effects are driven by extreme events at a local or regional scale. Assessing these events will require a methodology that can tractably map from climate information at higher spatial and temporal resolutions to macroeconomic outcomes.
- The physical risks of climate change are most accurately reflected as a distribution of potential outcomes, with many of the effects concentrated in relatively unlikely, but potentially significant outcomes ("tail" events). This distribution of risks and effects motivates questions about how to adequately address physical risk in the context of central tendencies used for government budgeting. For decisionmaking purposes, budgeting currently relies on a single economic forecast, even as specific policies are shaped by broader macroeconomic analyses.
- Because weather patterns and shifts in energy supply and demand are already affecting macroeconomic indicators, research should assess the extent to which climate change and the risks and opportunities of transitioning to a clean energy economy are already captured by existing macroeconomic forecasts. Such research would help to avoid unintentionally double counting macroeconomic effects.
- Additional research is needed to account for the macroeconomic implications of the transition to a clean energy economy within sectors including industry and agriculture, as well as the macroeconomic effects of adaptation measures both private agents and governments have taken.

 $^{^{2}}$ In practice, physical risks interact with transition risks and opportunities. We follow the literature's convention by discussing these types of risks and opportunities separately, and anticipate that future research will better allow us to account for the macroeconomic implications of their interactions.

• Many studies find that the clean energy transition will necessitate net increases in investments in key sectors to build out capacity. However, the literature does not yet address the degree to which such additional investments might displace other economic activity. The degree of displacement will have important implications for macroeconomic forecasts.

Governments around the world, as well as multilateral institutions, private businesses, and academic institutions, are also working to answer these questions. The Fifth National Climate Assessment (2023), the work of a U.S. Government interagency process led by the U.S. Global Change Research Program, provides a comprehensive assessment of our current understanding of climate change's various physical risks and their influences on the domestic economy, and informs our discussion of modeling physical risks. The Congressional Budget Office likewise accounts for physical risks in its long-term macroeconomic outlook (Hernstadt and Dinan 2020). Multiple central banks, including the Federal Reserve, participate in the Network of Central Banks and Supervisors for Greening the Financial System (n.d.). Additionally, the Coalition of Finance Ministers for Climate Action (n.d.), which includes the Department of the Treasury, has produced multiple reports detailing climate risks' implications for key government functions and responsibilities, and how finance ministries can contribute to climate action. National governments-such as in Denmark (Danish Research Institute for Economic Analysis and Modelling n.d.), France (Pisani-Ferry and Mahfouz 2023), and the United Kingdom (Skidmore 2022)—are assessing transition risks and opportunities within the specific context of their own countries.

This paper begins with a brief overview of macroeconomic forecasting in the context of the Federal Budget. It then walks through the steps required to incorporate the effects of climate change and the transition to a clean energy economy into a macroeconomic forecast as well as key areas for future research.

2. Methodology Overview

Economic forecasts reflect our understanding of the present and future economic landscape, helping policymakers, investors, and the public make sense of economic data and inform expectations about the future.

The President's macroeconomic forecast serves two specific purposes. First, it provides a consistent basis for Agencies to make estimates of outlays and receipts for the Federal Budget. Second, the macroeconomic forecast is a policy statement, reflecting the President's best assessment of how the Administration's policies will affect future macroeconomic outcomes. As Box 1 outlines, however, the Budget's macroeconomic forecast is not a comprehensive measure of welfare, a stress test, or a statement about subnational economic conditions.

In previous white papers, we assessed the research on how to integrate climate change into a macroeconomic forecasting model. In CEA and OMB (2022), we broadly describe key challenges when incorporating climate into a macroeconomic forecasting model and the resources available to do so. In CEA and OMB (2023), we then identify several economic pathways by which physical risks and transition risks and opportunities can affect

macroeconomic conditions and offer a conceptual framework to guide methodologies. This paper builds on that framework by developing a step-by-step methodology that contextualizes the literature, highlighting various points of consideration when integrating physical risks and transition risks and opportunities into a macroeconomic forecast, and posing questions for future research.

Box 1. Contextualizing the Budget's Macroeconomic Forecast

Consistent with section 6(a) of Executive Order 14030 (Executive Office of the President 2021), the methodological considerations discussed here focus specifically on quantifying climate risk within a macroeconomic forecast for a budgeting exercise. As discussed in Section 2, macroeconomic forecasts play a central role in fiscal policy. Nonetheless, this focus on macroeconomic forecasting cannot—and does not intend to—provide a comprehensive assessment of the macroeconomic effects of physical risks or transition risks and opportunities. The Federal Government relies on a much broader set of analyses than macroeconomic forecasts alone to inform its actions on climate, and the approaches considered here are not intended for other applications. We highlight three important limitations in scope when only analyzing effects on a macroeconomic forecast.

First, although macroeconomic forecasts play a critical role in the formulation of the U.S. Government's budget, they are not a comprehensive measure of welfare. Welfare measures are helpful guides in policymaking, and can provide important information in benefit-cost analyses, while economic measures, like gross domestic product (GDP), do not seek to correct for externalities and do not fully reflect nonmarket benefits, such as the value of improved health and well-being. Moreover, GDP currently does not link to natural capital accounting, and therefore does not fully capture changes to natural factor endowments. A macroeconomic forecast is unable to capture several important consequences of climate change and climate change policy (CEA and OMB 2023). On the physical side, GDP omits important nonmarket benefits of climate policy such as avoided human health impacts (Carleton et al. 2022), reduced social instabilities connected to climate change (Carleton and Hsiang 2016; Hsiang et al. 2017), and avoided degradation of ecosystem services (Drupp and Hänsel 2021; Hoel and Sterner 2007). The social cost of greenhouse gases aims to capture these broader benefits (Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 2023a). Similarly, on the transition side, since macroeconomic variables do not reflect externalities, they cannot capture the welfare effects of the clean energy transition.

Second, macroeconomic forecasts for budgeting purposes generally reflect a central tendency, whereas policymaking often benefits from economic modeling that can consider a range of potential outcomes. Stress testing and "what if" analyses can provide useful context for understanding the scope of a policy's economic implications. The contrast between a central tendency and less likely outcomes is particularly acute for climate policy, given the potential relevance of extreme event scenarios for both physical and transition risks. Historical relationships of central tendency may therefore be less reliable indicators of future developments. Moreover, because economic dynamics can vary significantly with the state of

the economy (e.g., in recessions versus expansions), our discussion's focus on forecasting central projections may not fully inform an integration of physical or transition risks into other macroeconomic modeling exercises. As CEA, OMB, and Department of the Treasury highlighted in a recent memo (2023), further enhancements in a number of research areas would considerably improve U.S. Government analytic capacity.

Third, a macroeconomic perspective can abstract from important variations across locations within the United States. For example, the Fifth National Climate Assessment notes that physical and transition risks vary significantly by location and socioeconomic status (Jay et al. 2023; Hsiang et al. 2023). Subnational analyses are particularly critical for State, Tribal, and local government decisionmaking, and can also help guide the development of Federal policies. Similarly, many Federal programs provide support to specific groups in need, and assessments that account for variation in impacts by socioeconomic status and related dimensions can ensure those programs are adequately targeted and funded. Executive Order 14030 also calls for the assessment of the Federal Government's climate-related financial risk exposure, leading to a range of analyses of Agency programs (e.g., <u>OMB 2022</u>; <u>OMB 2023</u>; <u>OMB 2024</u>). Programmatic and microeconomic assessments of climate-related financial risk provide an important complementary perspective to the macroeconomic forecasting we consider here.

Because our primary focus is the macroeconomic forecast used in the President's Budget, we predominantly consider a decadal horizon and anchor our discussion to a common approach to multiyear macroeconomic forecasts: the supply-side decomposition of the economy. As Table 1 illustrates, this decomposition breaks gross domestic product (GDP) into the product of its core components, including the working-age population, labor force participation rate, the average workweek, and labor productivity.³ For the purposes of climate-energy-economic modeling, we group these elements into two components: measures related to labor supply (rows 1-4) and measures related to labor productivity (rows 5 and 6).⁴ Labor productivity within the nonfarm business sector (row 5) itself can be decomposed into a component related to the capital stock and multifactor productivity. One of the advantages of a supply-side approach is that it anchors the forecast to longer-run trends (e.g., those related to population demographics) that, over the span of a decade or two, are roughly exogenous to many macroeconomic forces.⁵ Because the supply-side decomposition of different components adds up to GDP, it offers a helpful way to estimate how changes to the underlying supply-side components lead to changes in projected GDP.

³ Table 1 specifically reports trends in gross domestic output (GDO), the average of GDP and gross domestic income (GDI). In theory, GDP and GDI should be equal, and hence the same as GDO; in practice, GDP differs from GDI due to differences in underlying data sources. The conceptual decomposition presented in Table 1 also applies to GDP.

⁴ The supply-side framework also has implications for other salient macroeconomic variables. For example, the unemployment rate is 1 minus the employed share of the labor force.

⁵ The supply-side approach is not ubiquitous in macroeconomic forecasting. For example, as discussed in CEA and OMB (<u>2023</u>), Cambridge Econometrics' E3ME model relies on a demand-focused framework, and has been used in climate-energy-economic analyses.

			Growth Rate (percentage points)					
	Component	1953:Q2 to	1990:Q3 to	2001:Q1 to	2007:Q4 to	2019:Q4 to	2023:Q3 to	
		2019:Q4	2001:Q1	2007:Q4	2019:Q4	2023:Q3	2034:Q4	
		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
1	Civilian noninstitutional population, age 16+	1.4	1.2	1.1	1.0	0.6	0.7	
2	Labor force participation rate	0.1	0.1	-0.3	-0.3	-0.2	-0.1	
3	Employed share of the labor force	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.0	
4	Average weekly hours (nonfarm business)	-0.2	0.0	-0.2	-0.1	-0.2	0.0	
5	Output per hour (productivity, nonfarm business)	2.1	2.4	2.4	1.5	1.3	1.7	
6	Output per worker differential: GDO vs. nonfarm	-0.3	-0.3	-0.6	-0.4	0.4	-0.2	
7	Sum: Actual real GDO	3.0	3.5	2.4	1.8	1.8	2.0	

Table 1. Supply-side Components of Actual and Potential Real Gross Domestic Output (GDO) Growth (%)

Council of Economic Advisers

Sources: Bureau of Labor Statistics; Bureau of Economic Analysis; Department of the Treasury; Office of Management and Budget; CEA calculations.

Note: GDP = gross domestic product. Gross domestic output (GDO) is the average of GDP and gross domestic income. Real GDO and real nonfarm business output are measured as the average of income- and product-side measures. The output-per-worker differential (row 6) is the difference between output-per-worker growth in the economy as a whole (GDO divided by household employment), and output-per-worker growth in the nonfarm business sector. All contributions are in percentage points at an annual rate. The forecast jumps off from data available on November 3, 2023. The total may not add up due to rounding. The periods 1953:Q2, 1990:Q3, 2001:Q1, 2007:Q4, and 2019:Q4 are all quarterly business-cycle peaks. Population, labor force, and household employment have been adjusted for discontinuities in the population series. 2024 Economic Report of the President

Source: Table 2-3 of CEA (2024).

As outlined in Tables 2 and 3 from CEA and OMB (2023), large and growing literatures are building our understanding of how physical risks and transition risks and opportunities affect the supply-side components of GDP. These effects include direct responses to the physical risks of climate change as well as adaptive and mitigative actions due to technology, behavioral, or policy-induced changes. For example, the effects of climate-change-related events on migration and population growth would affect not only population but also labor force participation and the average workweek, while physical risk's effects on multifactor productivity would influence forecasts for labor productivity. Mitigative actions, like the development and deployment of clean technologies and infrastructure, will necessitate major investments in key sectors, which in turn will affect the capital stocks within the supply-side decomposition of GDP, and may lift labor productivity by boosting aggregate capital services per worker. Additionally, improvements in energy efficiency (Department of State and Executive Office of the President 2021) could translate to improvements in multifactor productivity.

In addition to the canonical components of the supply-side framework, we consider several complementary variables, including interest rates, inflation, residential investment, and international trade. Residential investment and international trade warrant separate consideration over a multiyear forecast window due to the structural changes arising from climate change and the transition to a clean energy economy. In particular, as we discuss below, these variables will be distinctly influenced by physical risk and the transition to a clean energy economy.

As reflected in our discussion above, this paper follows the literature's convention by separately considering the physical risks of climate change and the risks and opportunities of the clean energy transition. In practice, however, physical risk and the clean energy transition interact in many ways, such as adaptions to physical risks that bear on energy supply and demand. For

example, climate-induced increases in temperature and water scarcity may further encourage the use of less water-intensive renewable sources, like wind, instead of emissions-producing thermal generation plants (<u>Sanders 2015</u>). An emerging literature is exploring how these interactions between climate events, adaptation to these events, and GHG mitigation affect economic outcomes (e.g., <u>Barrage 2020</u>; <u>Colelli et al. 2022</u>; Jeon 2023). This paper will not consider these interactions in detail, because the methodological approaches for capturing these dynamics in macroeconomic models is nascent, and this area should be revisited in future macroeconomic forecasting efforts.

This white paper offers a foundation for developing estimates of how physical risk and the transition to a clean energy economy will influence the U.S. macroeconomic outlook. In the next section, we present flexible step-by-step methodological frameworks for physical risks and transition risks and opportunities that encompass various options to harness the existing literature and available methods. For each step, we discuss points of consideration when selecting among options and highlight opportunities where research advances could further enhance our understanding of the macroeconomic implications of physical risks and transition risks and opportunities. In Box 2, we lay out "step zero": the extent to which the existing macroeconomic forecast accounts for physical risks and the transition to a clean energy economy.

Box 2. Physical Risks and Transition Risks and Opportunities in a Baseline Macroeconomic Forecast

A primary challenge to integrating physical risks and transition risks and opportunities into a macroeconomic forecast is determining the degree to which the forecast implicitly already incorporates these forces. Ideally, the macroeconomic forecast would be adjusted only to align its implicit assumptions with the macroeconomic forecasters' outlook on future physical risk, adaptation, and the transition to a clean energy economy.

Even if the physical risks of climate change have not been formally incorporated into a baseline forecast, the effects of climate change may be implicitly incorporated if GHG-driven changes in national environmental conditions are correlated with variables used to generate the baseline forecast. Depending on how the baseline forecast is generated and the channels being used to account for physical risk, determining the extent to which a baseline macroeconomic forecast includes the effects of climate change may be difficult.

Regarding transition risks and opportunities, recent data already reflect shifts toward a less emissions-intensive economy. Consequently, even macroeconomic forecasts that do not explicitly take into account the effects of policies like the Inflation Reduction Act or other drivers of the transition to a clean energy economy still make implicit assumptions pertaining to the transition's pace, scope, and scale. These assumptions and their implications on the baseline macroeconomic forecast need to be accounted for to ensure that the adjustments to the macroeconomic forecast only reflect the differences between the scenario already captured in the baseline and the scenario consistent with the latest outlook on the clean energy transition.

3. Methodological Considerations

A. Physical Risk

We define the four iterative steps that are necessary to incorporate physical risk into a macroeconomic forecast as: (1) project global GHG emissions; (2) translate global GHG emissions to changes in local climate conditions; (3) map changes in climate conditions to changes in macroeconomic indicators; and finally, (4) project changes in macroeconomic indicators relative to the baseline macroeconomic forecast (Figure 1).



Forecasters face important decision points in each of these steps, some of which have limited options. For some environmental conditions, the relationship between GHG emissions and the

Figure 1. Physical Risk Approach Overview

environmental condition is well established, but the relationship between that condition and a particular macroeconomic outcome is not. In other cases, there is confidence in the latter relationship, but the former is uncertain. And in yet other cases, neither relationship is well established.

In an ideal world, each study quantifying the relationship between a local⁶ environmental condition and a macroeconomic outcome would account for adaptation, or how economic actors prepare for and respond to a new climate regime.⁷ For example, a hotter climate will result in higher electricity consumption due to the increased use of air conditioners (Barreca et al. 2016; Rode et al. 2021). In order to provide estimates of local climate conditions' effects on macroeconomic variables, forecasters need to estimate functions that account for both ex ante and ex post adaptation (e.g., both increased installation of air conditioning in anticipation of warming and more frequent operation of air conditioning under realized warming) (Auffhammer 2018). As we detail later, a critique of recent econometric approaches based on year-to-year weather variation is that they may omit ex ante adaptation.

Uncertainties also exist at each step in the process. For instance, computational limitations, knowledge gaps, and inherent variability prevent many energy-earth system models from analyzing a full range of climate uncertainty. To generate a probability distribution of a given macroeconomic outcome and allow for reporting of both central projections and probabilistic scenarios, one needs probabilistic temperature projections—and changes in any correlated environmental conditions—for any given emissions trajectory from which one could sample interrelated uncertainties regarding climate and climate's macroeconomic effects.⁸

These limitations and uncertainties make providing a comprehensive and deterministic accounting of physical risks a challenge. Doing so would require quantifying relationships between every local environmental condition and every macroeconomic variable of interest—and accounting for adaptation. It is, however, instructive to elaborate on which relationships are supported by current evidence and which presently are difficult to quantify and are thus priorities for future research.

Step 1: Project global GHG emissions

We addressed the first methodological choice on the physical risk side—how to project global GHG emissions—in CEA and OMB (2023). The paper outlines several essential attributes for an energy system model in the context of macroeconomic forecasting, such as the ability to represent the particular U.S. climate policy approach, and then identifies five models that fit those attributes.

Step 2: Translate projections of GHG emissions to changes in local environmental conditions

⁶ In this context, "local" refers to both national and subnational environmental conditions.

⁷ See Auffhammer (2018) for a detailed discussion of adaptation.

⁸ See for example, Rennert et al. (2021) and Rennert et al. (2022).

The second methodological choice is how to translate projections of GHG emissions to local environmental conditions, including extreme heat, flood and drought intensity, hurricane activity, wildfires, and sea level rise. Quantifying these effects onto U.S. macroeconomic forecasts requires specifying the link between GHG emissions and changes in the spatial pattern of these local environmental conditions. Spatial patterns matter for climate-macroeconomic forecasts: a hurricane that makes landfall over a city has different macroeconomic consequences than a hurricane that makes landfall on a sparsely populated area.

Many of the relationships between GHG emissions and local environmental conditions including potential tipping points—remain uncertain or unknown. The Technical Summary of the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change provides detail on the state of these literatures (Arias et al. 2021, Table TS.5). Increases in air temperature and relative sea level across North American regions are consistently projected with high confidence. However, there is mixed confidence in forecasted trends of different precipitation-related impacts—floods, droughts, wildfire—with the direction of change unclear in some cases. Further, across most North American regions, there is low confidence in the local direction of change for wind speed, an indicator for hurricane activity, though there is evidence that the global proportion of tropical cyclones that reach very intense (Category 4 or 5) levels will increase (Knutson 2024).

For the local impacts that can be projected with greater confidence—air temperature and relative sea level rise—forecasters can more readily convert GHG emissions onto local conditions via a "downscaling method."⁹ For example, <u>Appendix A</u> demonstrates a method for downscaling projections of global temperature to local temperature. For local impacts for which there is less confidence regarding the resulting spatial distribution of activity—including floods, droughts, and wildfire—forecasters need methodological approaches that account for such uncertainties. For example, forecasters can embed a hurricane model into a global circulation model (GCM) to produce a distribution of hurricane tracks under different GHG trajectories accounting for geophysical uncertainty (<u>Seneviratne et al. 2021</u>; <u>Meiler et al. 2023</u>). Likewise, forecasters could couple a hydrological model with surface and subsurface water flows with a GCM to produce a distribution of forecasted drought, flood, or wildfire conditions across the United States (<u>Seneviratne et al. 2021</u>). These forecasts can then serve as inputs into a stochastic macroeconomic forecast. Ideally, this setup would provide explicit estimates of the distribution of potential changes in the frequency and intensity of various extreme events, which are often the drivers of economic effects, especially on relatively short timescales.

Step 3: Map changes in local environmental conditions to macroeconomic indicators

The third methodological choice is how to map changes in local environmental conditions to macroeconomic indicators. Here, the literature takes two broad approaches. The first, referred to as the "top-down" approach, uses statistical and modeling techniques to estimate the effect of changes in environmental conditions on key macroeconomic indicators such as GDP. These statistical studies leverage large environmental and socioeconomic data, together with the latest

⁹ See Carleton et al. (2022) Supplementary Information for a discussion of temperature downscaling.

econometric estimators, and benefit from at least two advantages.¹⁰ First, data coverage across space and time allows researchers to isolate year-to-year variations in an environmental condition to obtain the arguably exogenous effect of the condition without confounding differences across location. For example, rather than attribute GDP per capita differences between hot and cold locations uniquely to their temperature difference—a measurement likely to be confounded because the locations also differ in other ways—researchers can instead compare the GDP per capita for a given location over time between hotter or colder years. Second, the large datasets these studies use enable the estimation of the potentially nonlinear relationship between environmental conditions and outcomes. There are however limitations to what these empirical analyses can provide. For example, as discussed in the next section, these approaches tend to treat adaptation incompletely and generally do not provide insight on the mechanisms through which an environmental condition affects GDP and other macroeconomic outcomes, which are often necessary for macroeconomic forecasting applications.

The second approach, referred to as the "bottom-up" approach, integrates the local effects of climate change into a particular structural representation of the economy. Table 2 from CEA and OMB (2023) broadly discusses these pathways and the U.S. Government's analytical capacity to use them in a macroeconomic forecasting exercise from a supply-side decomposition perspective. The bottom-up approach employs structural models that allow for climate effects to be embedded within key economic relationships, simultaneously yielding aggregate projections and providing scope and granularity to explore different mechanisms. There are also limitations to these bottom-up approaches. Structural macroeconomic models still may not easily capture hard-to-measure impacts, and may instead focus on pathways that are well understood and quantifiable (CEA and OMB 2023). They may as a result miss potentially significant channels that allow for the propagation of physical risks' effects, including those important for understanding macroeconomic effects of climate change (e.g., Kompas et al. 2018; Dellink et al. 2019). See Box 3 for a discussion of different types of bottom-up macroeconomic models that are applicable to the integration of physical risk into macroeconomic forecasts. While these approaches differ in their formulation of agents' decisionmaking and how they aggregate in equilibrium to the macroeconomy, they all feature the main supply-side components of output growth in their architectures, which may be informed by the discussion below of integrating physical risks into bottom-up approaches.

A number of important questions surround how to interpret and aggregate these literatures in the context of macroeconomic forecasting. This section first discusses an application of the top-down approach on the most studied and reproduced relationship in this literature: the relationship between local temperature and GDP per capita. We then discuss top-down approaches to estimating the relationships between other environmental conditions and GDP. Finally, we discuss bottom-up approaches to establishing relationships between local environmental conditions and other macroeconomic variables, including supply-side components of GDP.

¹⁰ For reviews, see Hsiang (2016) and Auffhammer (2018).

Box 3. Types of "Bottom-up" Structural Macroeconomic Models Pertinent to Climate-Macroeconomic Modeling

Integrated assessment models (IAMs) combine a growth model with a climate module to represent how emissions from economic activity alter the global climate and how that in turn affects economic activity. Economists and climate scientists use several types of these models to forecast how climate change will affect macroeconomic measures and vice versa, including DICE (Nordhaus 2017), FUND (Anthoff and Tol n.d.), PAGE (Moore et al. 2018), and RICE (Nordhaus 2017). Highly detailed technology-rich IAMs such as the Global Change Analysis Model (Joint Global Change Research Institute n.d. a) have the ability to model the energy transition but lack the geographic detail needed to robustly quantify climate risk. Until recently, these models were deterministic and often did not have rich regional interactions or sectoral representations. Following recommendations from the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2017), more recent IAMS improve the characterization of uncertainty and have more detailed sectoral representations of physical risk, including DSCIM (EPA 2023a) and GIVE (EPA 2023a).

Computable general equilibrium (CGE) and dynamic stochastic general equilibrium (**DSGE**) **models** forecast how welfare-optimizing firms and consumers would behave in given economic environments. These agents could represent the entire macroeconomy or specific sectors or geographic regions that make up the macroeconomy. Table 4 from CEA and OMB (2023) discusses peer-reviewed multisector models commonly used by researchers to integrate climate effects. G-Cubed (McKibbin Software Group n.d.) is a hybrid CGE/DSGE model used in climate-macroeconomic modeling, and EPPA (MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change n.d.) and SAGE (Marten et al. 2024) exemplify CGE modeling.

Agent-based computational models (ABMs) are computer simulation models that follow the interactions and decisions of multiple heterogenous, and perhaps boundedly rational, agents. Since these types of models can provide more flexibility in modeling choices, it is becoming more common to integrate them into macroeconomic models (see <u>Balint et al.</u> <u>2017</u> for a survey). Lamperti et al. (<u>2018</u>) develop an ABM that allows for endogenous interaction between the macroeconomy and the climate while also allowing for heterogenous shocks to heterogenous agents and for sectoral spillovers.

Top-down approaches: Temperature and GDP per capita

Figure 2 presents the estimated relationship between the country-level real GDP per capita growth rate and population-weighted temperature for several top-down econometric papers.^{11,12} Each paper finds a nonlinear relationship between country-level real GDP per capita growth and temperature. At annual average temperatures below approximately 13°C (55 °F), higher temperatures tend to raise per capita GDP growth; at temperatures above 13°C (55 °F), higher temperatures tend to lower per capita GDP growth (Burke et al. 2015).





Sources: Burke et al. (2015); Acevedo et al. (2020); Jiao et al. (2023); Casey et al. (2023); CEA and OMB calculations. Note: Estimated relationships between GDP per capita growth and contemporaneous temperature from published empirical studies. All studies include global coverage of countries. Figure shows relationship from Extended Data Table 1, Column 1 of Burke et al. (2015), Table 1, Column 5 of Acevedo et al. (2020) for 1950-2015 period; Table 4.1, Column 2 of Jiao et al. (2023), and Table 2, Column 4 of Casey et al. (2023).

¹¹ These papers were selected because they: (1) were published in a peer-reviewed journal in the last ten years; (2) report a statistical relationship between country-level temperature and real GDP growth that controls for potentially confounding factors across locations using panel data; and (3) offer access to replication materials. The papers use location-by-time panel (or longitudinal) data with statistical models that include location-specific fixed effects. This approach controls for time-invariant differences across locations that may be correlated with a location's average temperature and affect GDP growth rates.

¹² Some studies relate subnational temperature to GDP such as Kalkuhl and Wenz (2020). We omit Kalkuhl and Wenz (2020) because (1) their outcome is nominal, not real, GDP; and (2) their subnational regressions are not weighted by the number of subnational units, making their results hard to interpret as country-level effects.

In practice, applying this relationship into GDP per capita projections is a more complicated matter. As <u>Appendix B</u> details, an estimated contemporaneous relationship between temperature and GDP growth could be consistent with a one-time permanent increase in temperature either permanently lowering the level of GDP per capita (i.e., a "level" effect) or permanently lowering the growth rate of GDP per capita (i.e., a "growth" effect) (<u>Dell et al. 2012; Casey et al. 2023;</u> <u>Newell et al. 2021; Nath et al. 2023; Tol 2024; Piontek et al. 2021</u>). For GDP per capita projections, assuming temperature has a growth effect would lead to much larger GDP per capita losses than assuming temperature has only a level effect of comparable magnitude, with the divergence increasing over longer time horizons (see <u>Appendix B</u>).

Whether increasing temperature lowers GDP per capita levels or growth rates remains an open question. As <u>Appendix B</u> details, this question can be empirically assessed using a statistical model estimating lagged temperature effects on GDP per capita growth. If the sum of the lagged coefficients is zero, temperature has only a level effect; if the sum of the lagged coefficients is nonzero, temperature has an additional growth effect. Unfortunately, there are insufficient data to precisely estimate lagged temperature effects, especially over longer time horizons. While data limitations prevent clean empirical resolution of this question, it is unlikely to have much consequence over typical budget forecasting windows, which are often limited to ten years. More recently, Nath et al. (2023) advocate for a middle ground: detecting temperature as having a persistent effect on GDP per capita growth for ten years.

The debate between growth and levels aside, there are other limitations to the estimated relationship shown in Figure 2. First, such top-down relationships may not offer insights into how temperature affects specific underlying mechanisms such as supply-side components of GDP, like total factor productivity, labor force participation, or some other mechanism (Auffhammer 2018; Deschênes and Meng 2018; Pindyck 2021; Lontzek et al. 2015). Understanding such mechanisms is of particular importance for budgeting exercises: the various components of GDP that might be sensitive to temperature influence spending differently. For example, if temperature increases disproportionately reduce labor supply, rather than total factor productivity, higher temperatures could increase reliance on social safety net programs. As we discuss below, bottom-up approaches can provide insight on mechanisms, a typical approach in current analyses is to assume that temperature increases' effects on GDP growth stem from changes in total factor productivity (e.g., Hernstadt and Dinan 2020).

Second, GHG emissions alter climate conditions over a long time horizon, with economic behavior likely responding to those expected changes over time. While changes in GDP per capita based on year-to-year temperature fluctuations provide plausibly exogenous temperature effects, they do not include responses to expected temperature change, which would capture adaptation (Deschênes and Greenstone 2007). By treating the future temperature path as

unexpected—when in fact it is strongly trending—employing estimates from studies summarized in Figure 2 would omit the role of private adaptation and governments' adaptation policies.¹³

The issues articulated here for the temperature-GDP per capita relationship—growth versus level effect interpretation, underlying mechanisms, and assumptions about adaptation—are not unique to temperature effects. Small but growing literatures aim to assess the implications of other changes in local environmental conditions driven by GHG emissions on GDP per capita, as we now detail.

Top-down approaches: Other environmental conditions and GDP per capita

Hurricane activity's macroeconomic consequences are well documented. Studies have found links between hurricane activity and GDP per capita growth (<u>Hsiang and Jina 2014</u>; <u>Strobl 2011</u>) and businesses' survival rate (<u>Basker and Miranda 2018</u>). These empirical studies are complemented by structural studies that examine the economic mechanisms and welfare consequences underlying these impacts (<u>Bakkensen and Barrage 2021</u>; <u>Fried 2022</u>; <u>Bilal and Rossi-Hansberg 2023</u>).

However, outside of temperature and hurricane activity, the empirical relationships between GHG-driven local environmental conditions and GDP per capita are less well established. In the case of precipitation, one potential explanation is that it may not be a direct measure of local drought or flood conditions, due to natural hydrological features (e.g., river, lakes, aquifers) and human-made infrastructure (e.g., dams, irrigation canals, levees).

There is limited empirical understanding of wildfires' and sea level rise's macroeconomic impacts, though each poses risks of potential loss in capital stocks. Some recent studies link wildfire smoke to earnings and human health (<u>Burke et al. 2021</u>; <u>Borgschulte et al. 2022</u>; <u>Heft-Neal et al. 2023</u>). The relatively small extent of sea level rise to date has largely led to researchers using modeled and expected, rather than estimated, effects to the macroeconomy (<u>Diaz 2016</u>; <u>Depsky et al. 2023</u>).

Bottom up-approaches: Effects of local environmental conditions on macroeconomic outcomes

While GDP is a key macroeconomic indicator, macroeconomic forecasting often builds off GDP's supply-side components, such as labor productivity, labor force participation, and population. Indeed, the Federal Government largely relies on economic and statistical models of these supply-side components to assemble the macroeconomic forecast used in the President's Budget. However, as mentioned above, physical risk will also cause structural changes to some demand-side indicators including international trade flows and different types of investment, which warrant distinct consideration. As discussed in CEA and OMB (2023), once quantified, these pathways could be incorporated into one of the bottom-up models discussed in Box 3,

¹³ Note that if the outcome is an optimized economic variable, like welfare, and there are no dynamics, the envelope theorem applies whereby the marginal impact of a temperature shock equals the marginal impact from a change in expected temperature (<u>Deryugina and Hsiang 2017</u>).

which can be aggregated to inform a projected effect onto GDP or a key component of GDP relative to a baseline (Roson and Sartori 2016; EPA 2021).¹⁴

Table 2 from CEA and OMB (2023) outlines physical risks' effects on key structural economic variables and the U.S. Government's analytical capacity to estimate these effects for the purposes of a macroeconomic forecasting exercise. The subsequent sections discuss the progress and current gaps to understanding the effects of climate change on these key macroeconomic variables—labor supply, productivity, capital services, and international trade—and consider how they can be incorporated into structural macroeconomic forecasting models.

Labor supply

Local environmental conditions can affect the labor supply components of a supply-side GDP decomposition through altered workweeks, labor force participation, population growth, and migration flows. Several studies examine the effects of temperature on the workweek. For the United States, Neidell et al. (2021) find that extreme temperatures reduce the workweek in industries with a high baseline temperature exposure. Somanathan et al. (2021) find absenteeism increases during hot days. Using data from several countries, Rode et al. (2022) find an inverted-U relationship where both extremely hot and cold days lead to fewer hours worked. The relationship between temperature and hours worked estimated in these studies can be used to inform labor supply forecasts in macroeconomic modeling of climate scenarios. Key challenges facing this literature include difficulties in modeling the flexibility some workers have in adjusting their workweek when experiencing extreme temperatures and incorporating adverse effects on hours dedicated to nonmarket work (e.g., housekeeping).

Climate change might also affect labor force participation through increased morbidity. The Fifth National Climate Assessment concluded that the changing climate is leading to higher incidence of severe and adverse health outcomes (Hayden et al. 2023). However, more work is needed to robustly identify the necessary statistical relationships and account for extreme weather events in addition to changes in temperatures (Ackerman and Stanton 2008).

Climate change's effect on migration is multifaceted, and may therefore be more difficult to incorporate into a macroeconomic forecasting model. Factors influencing decisions to migrate include the available resources at either location—and necessarily the extent to which climate change has depleted those resources—and the costs of avoiding relocation (<u>Cattaneo and Peri</u> 2016; <u>Kaczan and Orgill-Meyer 2020; Hornbeck 2012</u>). Several empirical studies evaluate how climate change alters migration patterns both into and out of the United States.¹⁵ A large literature shows that climate-induced natural disasters and sea level rise have displaced

¹⁴ In particular, EPA's Framework for Evaluating Damages and Impacts (FrEDI) estimates variables relating to the supply-side decomposition of GDP, such as work hours lost and property damages (EPA 2021).

¹⁵ Notable examples include Hunter et al. (2013), Jessoe et al. (2018), and Nawrotzki and DeWaard (2016).

substantial numbers of people.¹⁶ One challenge in this literature is the inherent tension in ascribing causal effects to unexpected climate shocks, when a complementary literature describes migration decisions as typically made in response to anticipated long-run changes (<u>Mullins and Bharadwaj 2021</u>).

Labor and agricultural productivity

Climate change's effects on both labor and agricultural productivity (e.g., crop output per acre) are well documented. Dell et al. (2012), De Lima et al. (2021), and Kjellstrom et al. (2009) find that higher temperatures lead to decreased labor productivity in climate-exposed industries. Interestingly, Basker and Miranda (2018), Hallegatte and Dumas (2009), and Okuyama (2003) find, however, that labor productivity can rise after severe storms, due to the adoption of more capital-intensive work processes implemented by surviving businesses when rebuilding.

Studies on agricultural productivity find that extreme climate events can adversely affect irrigation, crop health, water quality, worker health and safety, inputs supplied, prices, and output yields and quality (Bolster et al. 2023). Beach et al. (2015), Moore et al. (2017), and Baker et al. (2022) find that higher temperatures and GHG emissions lower agricultural yields. Costinot et al. (2016) find that the expected effects of climate change on agricultural productivity could reduce global crop values by one sixth.

Several structural studies leverage statistical relationships between climate change and labor and agricultural productivity to estimate climate change's macroeconomic effects (e.g., <u>Dellink et al.</u> 2019; <u>Roson and Sartori 2016</u>). Dellink et al. (2019) notably rely on statistical relationships between various climate change measures and various measures of productivity, including temperature's effect on labor productivity and extreme weather events' effect on crop yields. This approach allows for the propagation of different types of physical risk across different economic sectors and onto overall macroeconomic indicators.

Physical risks to labor and agricultural productivity are key channels by which climate can affect the macroeconomy, and are featured in each of the structural models cited by CEA and OMB (2023) on methodologies for forecasting the macroeconomic impacts of physical risk. Consequently, existing climate-macroeconomic modeling frameworks could readily leverage further advances in establishing robust empirical findings between physical risk and productivity.

Capital services

Climate change poses significant risks to physical capital, and changes to physical capital will, in turn, affect capital service flows into GDP. Key channels include capital destruction, financing costs and access to insurance, and lower capital productivity (perhaps through higher than expected depreciation or retirement). Each of these channels will influence investment and capital accumulation rates.

¹⁶ See Deryugina et al. (2018) and DeWaard et al. (2020) for examples of hurricanes affecting migration patterns and Depsky et al. (2023), Desmet and Rossi-Hansberg (2021), and Hauer (2017) for examples of sea level rise affecting migration patterns.

Conceptually, the investment response to a climate event that destroys capital is ambiguous: investment growth could move above its prior trend, return to trend, or decline below the trend (<u>Batten 2018</u>). The economic literature has not reached consensus on how investment responds to natural disasters. For example, Hsiang and Jina (2014) and Otto et al. (2023) find evidence consistent with a below-trend recovery scenario following environmental disasters. Crespo Cuaresma et al. (2008) find that added growth can occur in research and development (R&D) in high-income countries and Cavallo et al. (2013) find a recovery to baseline trend following natural disasters. The response of investment to climate-change-induced capital destruction therefore needs to be carefully considered in any structural macroeconomic forecasting exercise.

A significant amount of capital is stored in housing, and climate change threatens to increase the physical risk to real estate. Bin et al. (2011) forecast significant losses to homes exposed to coastal sea level rise. First Street Foundation (2021) estimates that annual losses for properties in flood risk zones totaled \$20 billion in 2021 and forecasts annual losses will rise to \$32 billion by 2051. Furthermore, Hino and Burke (2021) and Bakkensen and Barrage (2021) find evidence that pricing for climate-exposed buildings does not fully account for climate risk, leading to less efficient resource allocation, particularly during recovery efforts.

Shifts in private and public borrowing costs due to climate risks will also influence investment recovery trends. Angeli et al. (2022) find that climate change can increase risk premiums, which could lead to increased financing costs for investors and lower demand for capital. Correa et al. (2023) find that corporate loan interest rates increase in response to climate-related natural disasters, while Dafermos et al. (2018) develop a structural model and find that climate change leads to increased defaults. Ascari et al. (2024) and Batten et al. (2020) suggest increased inflationary pressures from supply-chain constraints could alter interest rates. Changes to interest rates would not just affect private-sector borrowers; Barrage (2020) finds that shifts in public borrowing due to physical risk are important in determining optimal fiscal policy.

The increase in physical risk from more extreme events will also increase insurance costs (<u>The</u> <u>President's Council of Advisors on Science and Technology 2023</u>). Otto et al. (2023) find that better access to insurance can mitigate declines in GDP growth caused by hurricanes. However, insurance companies are likely to increase rates for homeowners in climate-exposed areas (<u>Mulder and Kousky 2023</u>). At the same time, public insurance programs, such as the National Flood Insurance Program, expect rising payouts as a result of future physical risk (<u>OMB 2022</u>). Shifts in private and public borrowing costs and access to insurance may influence how investment and capital accumulation respond to climate change and extreme weather events.

A relatively common way to capture climate change's effects on capital productivity within a structural economic model is to adjust capital depreciation rates. Climate change can reduce capital available to workers for production, such as electricity transmission, distribution, and generation (Electric Power Research Institute 2022; Auffhammer et al. 2017; Rode et al. 2021) or roads and railways (Jay et al. 2023).¹⁷ Caldecott et al. (2016) find that climate change has increased the incidence of capital stranding. Such outcomes have been explored in structural

¹⁷ Also see Neumann et al. (2021); Parrado et al. (2020) and Fant et al. (2021).

models in the form of climate-induced acceleration of capital depreciation (<u>Fankhauser and Tol</u> 2005; <u>Catalano et al. 2020</u>). The effect of climate hazards on capital depreciation found in these studies could allow macroeconomic models to at least partially account for capital losses due to climate change.

International Trade

Climate change will also affect economic activity outside of the United States, including for the United States' trading partner and potentially affecting foreign demand for U.S. exports or increasing the cost of foreign imports into the United States. Extreme weather events are already disrupting transportation networks directly, raising trade costs and the prices of final goods. For instance, delays in shipping due to the recent droughts in the Panama Canal have already increased U.S. export prices of liquified natural gas (Energy Information Administration 2023) and various agricultural products (United States Department of Agriculture 2023). These effects can be empirically estimated using gravity equations that model trade flows' responses to local climate shocks, holding conditions elsewhere in the trade network fixed (Martínez-Martínez et al. 2023). Such an approach, however, overlooks the global nature of climate change, which alters environmental conditions simultaneously across the globe and can result in cascading impacts (Lawrence et al. 2020). Robustly capturing the effects of climate change requires accounting for trade responses to a global shock (e.g., Dingel et al. 2019).

The current literature suggests that the macroeconomic consequences of physical risks abroad over the next couple decades may not be large enough to have measurable effects on U.S. GDP. Estimates from Dellink et al. (2017) indicate that U.S. imports and exports would decline by roughly 0.2 percent by the early 2030s and by less than one percent by 2060, compared with a baseline without any climate-related effects. Other similar research has largely corroborated this finding.¹⁸ Furthermore, Martínez-Martínez et al. (2023) find insignificant effects of temperature and extreme events on U.S. trade flows using reduced-form econometric approaches.

However, shifts in trade flows due to physical risk could affect production in specific economic sectors and other key economic measures, such as inflation, and these indirect effects could themselves have important consequences for GDP. Liefert et al. (2021) suggest that adverse effects of climate change in other countries could reduce agricultural exports from the United States.¹⁹ McNulty and Jowitt (2021) find that climate change events could affect the extraction of raw minerals, which could introduce price shocks into supply chains that cascade to downstream

¹⁸ For other studies on this topic, see Nordhaus (2011), Eboli et al. (2010), and Feyen et al. (2014). Countries in Southeast Asia, the Middle East, North Africa, and Sub-Saharan Africa are more likely to be adversely affected by climate change because they are more reliant on trade. The studies generally project a decline in world trade, compared with a counterfactual without climate change, which is mostly driven by large projected declines in developing countries closer to the equator where the effects of physical risk from climate change are expected to be more severe.

¹⁹The authors state that roughly 20 percent of U.S. agricultural production is sold abroad. They assess changes in U.S. agricultural products when purchasers abroad experience natural disasters that reduce their demand for exports. They consider natural disasters occurring in different countries sequentially and simultaneously and at different times.

producers and consumers. Izaguirre et al. (2021) find that climate risk can create congestion at ports, which also introduces higher transport costs that could be passed through to consumers.

At the same time, global trade flows could be altered by diminishing sea ice and the opening of Arctic sea routes. According to the National Intelligence Council (2021), the increased viability of Arctic sea routes could reduce trade times between Europe and China by 40 percent. To date, no studies have estimated the macroeconomic effects of these new routes, but Maurer and Yu (2008) find that the opening of the Panama Canal had significant effects on trade flows and welfare for the United States.

Step 4: Project changes in macroeconomic indicators relative to the baseline forecast

The fourth methodological step to account for physical risk is to project changes to macroeconomic indicators. As discussed in Box 2, accounting for the extent to which the baseline macroeconomic forecast already incorporates physical risk is important. For example, given that temperature affects GDP, that effect may already be indirectly included in GDP forecasts if temperature is correlated with any of the variables formally used to forecast GDP, such as labor market participation (Graff Zivin and Neidell 2014). The magnitude of the implicit effect varies depending on the approach taken to leverage historic economic data to generate the forecast. While this issue—referred to in econometrics as omitted variables bias—is not typically considered in forecast with an externally estimated effect.

B. Transition Risks and Opportunities

Transitioning to a clean energy economy will require many sectors to transform. As these transformations manifest over time, the ways in which sectors interact with one another will themselves change. The macroeconomic consequences of this transition will depend on the pace, scope, and scale of these sectoral transformations—including the winding down of emissions-intensive business activity and capital, the winding up of clean alternatives, and a rise in adaptation activity to increase resilience to climate hazards—and how these changes affect economic activity across other sectors.

Accounting for the transition to a clean energy economy in a macroeconomic forecast is an inherently interdisciplinary exercise. Broadly, this accounting needs to address two questions: (1) how does the transition to a clean energy economy affect sector-level economic activity; and (2) how do these changes in sector-level economic activity affect the macroeconomy? As Figure 3 shows, we address these questions through four steps. Step 1, selecting a modeling framework, underscores how different modeling approaches influence the relationships the forecaster can capture. For example, a modeling framework that prioritizes cross-country dynamics may abstract from differences across sectors. Step 2 considers economic and technological determinants of key sectors' trajectories. Given the overall modeling framework and these determinants, Step 3 discusses how to compute sector-level changes in economic activity and assets. Lastly, Step 4 shows how these sector-level changes can be aggregated to determine economy-wide changes driven by the transition to a clean energy economy. While in many cases, the macroeconomic modeling may ultimately only require the outputs from Step 3—which

would serve as inputs—we also address the preceding steps, each of which helps to shape the estimated macroeconomic effects of the transition. Additionally, as Figure 3 illustrates, there may be important channels of endogeneity, with the overall macroeconomic outlook influencing the transition to a clean energy economy.

Further research is needed to robustly account for the macroeconomic implications of the transition to a clean energy economy. While an extensive literature evaluates the effects arising from changes in the power, transportation, and buildings sectors, less attention has been paid to other prominent emissions-producing sectors, such as industry and agriculture; clean technology manufacturing and other upstream activities; and investments in energy efficiency that will help shape the pace, scope, and scale of the transition. ²⁰ Similarly, limited literature addresses the macroeconomic effects of adaptation measures and other forms of climate resilience. ²¹ In the coming years, physical risks will warrant increases in adaptation investments, irrespective of the mitigation actions more typically associated with transition risks and opportunities. While the

Figure 3. Transition Risks and Opportunities Approach Overview



Note: Dashed lines reflect general-equilibrium channels that could be salient but may be hard to capture.

²⁰ For example, two recent multi-model studies of the Inflation Reduction Act's (IRA's) effects on emissions and energy have sector-specific discussions for only the electricity, transportation, and building sectors. Bistline et al. (2024) have an explicit "Industry and Other" category, while EPA's (2023) "Industry" category includes agriculture and forestry. EPA (2023b) notes that "the IRA industrial sector policies are represented the least of all sectors across the multi-sector modeling" (93).

 $^{^{21}}$ As Fried (2022) observes, the literature that applies to macroeconomic modeling to climate policy "focuses on aspects of climate change other than adaptation" (3306).

overarching approach we describe could accommodate a broader scope of mitigation and adaptation, doing so will remain challenging in practice absent further advances in research.

Step 1: Select a modeling framework

Models of the effects of the clean energy transition face tradeoffs between resolution and tractability. We highlight four dimensions of resolution for forecasters to consider: internal consistency, sectoral, spatial, and temporal. For expositional purposes, we discuss sector-level modeling independently of macroeconomic modeling, as illustrated by the distinctions made in Steps 3 and 4 of Figure 3. However, computational general equilibrium models and dynamic stochastic general equilibrium models with sufficient sectoral detail simultaneously generate sector-level and economy-wide projections. Our expositional framing still broadly applies to models that jointly project sectoral and macroeconomic trends, as such models typically nest sector-specific "blocks" of equations and also face tradeoffs on what economic relationships to prioritize modeling. Additionally, while for discussion purposes we consider using only a single model at any given step, in practice forecasters could employ a portfolio of models to leverage the advantages of different approaches. The various considerations we discuss below would apply to each of the models within the portfolio.

Internal consistency: Internal consistency reflects the degree to which the economic modeling of the transition to a clean energy economy rests on the same assumptions as the baseline macroeconomic forecast. For example, a forecaster could "plug" into their macroeconomic model estimates of the Inflation Reduction Act's (IRA's) fiscal and economic effects from government sources (e.g., <u>Congressional Budget Office 2022</u>) or academics (e.g., <u>Bistline et al.</u> 2023). If the baseline macroeconomic forecast's outlook aligns with that applied in the external study, integration can be straightforward. However, assessing the degree of forecast alignment can be challenging, and alignment may weaken over time as the macroeconomic outlook changes. In contrast, building up from estimates of sectoral activity over the transition to a clean energy economy can enable the forecaster to ensure those estimates account for their views of the broader macroeconomy.

Sectoral: The United States' Long-Term Strategy considers five broad sectors key to the transition to a clean energy economy: electricity, transportation, buildings, industry, and agriculture (including forestry and land use) (Department of State and Executive Office of the President 2021). The pace of each sector's transition may be influenced by both sector-specific factors and by interactions with other sectors.²² In general, there is a modeling tradeoff between breadth and depth: models that can account for cross-sector interactions may be better able to model variables like prices, which are influenced by both supply and demand, but will often capture less detail within any individual sector. Single-sector models, on the other hand, can yield more detailed projections of that sector's supply and factor demand.

²² For example, a shift in demand from internal combustion engine vehicles to electric vehicles (EVs) will increase demand for electricity generation, influencing electricity producers' decisions; meanwhile, expectations about electricity's future supply and price will influence the demand and production of EVs.

Spatial: Breadth-versus-depth tradeoffs are also prominent for the spatial dimension of analysis. The clean energy transition in the United States will likely be influenced by changes in activity in other countries.²³ Models that account for the pace, scope, and scale of the transitions to a clean energy economy across the world can better capture trajectories for domestic variables, like commodity prices, that are strongly influenced by international economic forces. However, using global analyses may make internal consistency more challenging if the macroeconomic forecaster does not have as developed an economic outlook outside of the United States as within it. Spatial detail at the subnational level may also be helpful for capturing transition dynamics. For example, the price and speed at which infrastructure necessary to support the clean energy transition can be built—such as for the transmission and delivery of electricity—may vary across areas. However, as in the multinational case, developing consistent subnational economic forecasts can be challenging.

Temporal: Resolution in the sectoral and spatial dimensions often must be determined jointly with resolution in the temporal dimension. Macroeconomic forecasts at decadal horizons are usually estimated at an annual or quarterly frequency—including the forecast underpinning the President's Budget—a far shorter time step than is typically applied in models used to project the transition to clean energy economy.²⁴ A shorter time step allows a model to better capture economically salient adjustment frictions and reactions to changes in economy-wide conditions but can increase computational burden and necessitate simplification across other dimensions to retain tractability.

The tradeoffs and decisions across the four dimensions of methodological resolution—internal consistency, sectoral, spatial, and temporal—vary with the nature of the macroeconomic forecast's context and application. We proceed with a maximal approach to provide a holistic view of the factors that could be taken into account when modeling the transition to a clean energy economy.

²³ For example, projected prices of clean technology inputs may be biased upwards if they only take into account changes in U.S. demand and biased downwards if they only take into account innovations from R&D spending within the United States.

²⁴ E.g., the Global Change Analysis Model (<u>Joint Global Change Research Institute n.d. a</u>) and REgional Model of Investment and Development (<u>Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research n.d.</u>).

To illustrate the projections across currently available methods, we draw from recent intermodal comparison studies of the effects of the IRA on key economic sectors (EPA 2023b; Bistline et al. 2024). The effects estimated under these different modeling approaches would likely generate substantively different estimates of how the IRA affects the macroeconomic outlook. Figure 4 displays the estimated reductions to future carbon dioxide emissions due to the IRA by sector across ten multi-sector models (EPA 2023b). Two qualitative trends are consistent across the models: (1) the IRA will lead to lower emissions by 2035; and (2) the sector most affected through 2035 is electricity. Quantitative projections of sector-specific and aggregate changes in emissions vary across models, illustrating the implications arising from different model structures and assumptions about key inputs. The qualitative consistencies reflect particularly robust findings, since EPA (2023b) includes models that differ in scope and scenarios that are not harmonized. Multi-model studies like EPA (2023b) offer detailed information on the models' approaches and assumptions, allowing forecasters to compare across them and determine which type of modeling is most appropriate for their work.





Source: Figure 1.3 of EPA (2023b).

Note: Each marker represents a different model estimate, with lines denoting the median estimate.

Step 2: Project economic and technological determinants

As noted above, some of the variation reflected in Figure 4 stems from different outlooks on the key factors that will shape the transition to a clean energy economy. We consider two groups of factors influencing the pace of the transition: (1) factors influencing the supply, price, and innovation of clean technologies; and (2) factors influencing the deployment of clean technologies. In practice, many of these factors are interdependent—for example, increases in the demand of a particular clean technology can affect its availability and price, as well as the price of other clean technologies.

The supply, price, and development of clean technologies

The pace of the transition to a clean energy economy will depend on expectations and realizations of changes in the cost of existing technologies, innovations leading to the availability of novel technologies, and the extent and characteristics of government policy related to the transition. To illustrate these concepts, we focus on the power sector.

Many existing clean energy technologies are likely to experience cost declines in the coming years that may not be accounted for in current forecasts. For example, between 2009 and 2023, the cost of solar photovoltaics fell 83 percent, while the cost of onshore wind power fell 63 percent (Lazard 2023). These cost declines exceeded expectations. In general, past forecasts of individual clean technologies have predominantly underestimated technological progress (Way et al. 2022).²⁵ As a range of models project a significant increase in demand for clean energy technologies, these technologies could move further along the experience curve and attain further cost reductions.

The degree to which existing clean energy technologies' prices will decline is subject to considerable uncertainty, as it depends on several forms of technological change, including applied R&D, learning-by-doing, and economies of scale.²⁶ Reduced-form approaches can offer tractable abstractions of these dynamics. For example, Way et al. (2022) consider a deterministic function for future technology prices known as Wright's Law, in which price declines are a power function of cumulative production.²⁷ This endogeneity between a technology's use and price is important to capture when evaluating the clean energy transition. A more holistic assessment of the dynamics driving experience curves could improve forecasting capabilities.²⁸

In addition to improvements to existing technologies, the transition to a clean energy economy will require the development and deployment of new technologies. The International Energy

²⁵ For many clean energy technologies, improvements and cost reductions are spurred by repeat deployment and scale-up of manufacturing capacity (CEA 2022). As more producers enter the market, learning-by-doing dynamics can occur. These dynamics can be furthered by tax incentives that lower the cost of clean energy investment. An increased customer base allows producers to expand, allowing for economies of scale (CEA 2021; CEA 2023). ²⁶ Elia et al. (2021) survey the academic literature and find that most studies focus on just one factor in developing experience curves, and that even across the studies that account for multiple factors, many key considerations remain underexplored.

²⁷ Way et al. (2022) also examine Moore's Law, which assumes prices decline exponentially over time. The authors find that, when estimated from historical data on clean energy technologies, both laws perform similarly. The reliance of time as an explanatory variable may subject extrapolation under Moore's Law to elevated uncertainty. ²⁸ Existing methods are subject to large revisions; for example, wind industry experts surveyed in 2020 expected the cost of wind power in 2050 to be half what experts had projected just five years earlier (Wiser et al. 2021).

Agency (IEA) (2023a) estimates that about one third of global emissions reductions through 2050 will arise from technologies that are not yet developed enough to operate commercially at a mass scale. Achieving the necessary developments will require increased R&D on clean technologies across a variety of sectors. The Executive Office of the President (2022) identified a broad range of "game-changer" breakthroughs that could help propel the transition to a clean energy economy, ranging from net-zero concrete production to improvements in crop production that increase carbon sequestration.

At the macroeconomic level, the innovations that generate novel technologies are commonly abstracted into a composite measure of multifactor productivity growth. However, this approach may not reflect the developments that arise when sectors undergo structural change, as novel clean technologies may complement or substitute for other clean technologies.²⁹ Capturing these cross-technology dynamics would require jointly forecasting the individual products, increasing model complexity. Over short time horizons, technological breakthroughs could be assumed away, but such an assumption becomes more tenuous as the forecast horizon increases.

The representation of current and future policies, both domestic and international, is important for any macroeconomic forecasting exercise. Modeling policies poses two methodological choices. First, the forecaster must make assumptions about how government policies pertaining to the transition to a clean energy economy will change over time. Even if the macroeconomic forecast horizon itself is only a decade long, investment decisions in 10 years will themselves be influenced by the policy environment likely to be in place over the following years, requiring assumptions about subsequent policies or models that do not take into account the forward-looking nature of investment decisions.

Second, the modeler must make assumptions about whether and how to account for variation in policy tools. Capturing any one country's suite of policies (including subnational policies in cases like the United States), let alone the breadth across countries, is difficult, and there is a need for a broad set of tools to model the economic implications of different types of policy (CEA et al. 2023).³⁰ As Bistline et al. (2023) note, different policies target different economic channels and tend to have different macroeconomic effects. For example, carbon taxes would make energy more expensive where energy remains reliant on carbon sources, deterring consumption in a way that a clean energy subsidy would not. Clean energy subsidies more directly target clean technologies' experience curves, leading to more rapid technology development than would be stimulated by carbon pricing (<u>Bistline et al. 2023</u>).

²⁹ On one hand, advances in linchpin technologies such as energy storage could enhance the commercial viability of a range of clean technologies, while alternatively, novel clean technologies could displace existing ones. For example, researchers are exploring the potential of using sodium-ion batteries as a substitute for the lithium-ion batteries typically used in EVs (Department of Energy 2023a).

³⁰ For example, the U.S. light-vehicle transportation sector has subsidies and tax incentives aimed at increasing demand and production of EVs, regulations on emissions standards across manufacturers, and taxes on gasoline.

Figure 5 illustrates the cost trajectories of the key power sources used in a multi-model study (<u>Bistline et al. 2024</u>). The estimated trends across the different models are qualitatively similar and point to growing cost reductions over time. Notably, even for relatively mature technologies like solar and wind, the cost projections vary, reflecting different assumptions about the availability of upstream technologies, supply constraints, and the effects of Federal, State, and local policies.





Source: Figure S3 of Bistline et al. (2024).

Note: Lines reflect different models' assumptions. Utility-scale solar photovoltaic (PV) costs are shown in terms of kW_{AC} (kilowatts of adaptive current). NGCC: natural gas combined cycle. CCS: carbon capture and storage.

The deployment of clean technologies

The deployment of clean energy technologies is influenced by market frictions, characteristics of an economic market that inhibit participants from making ideal decisions. Because the clean

energy transition reflects structural change, it is important to consider how frictions affect the use of both incumbent, emissions-producing technologies as well as newer clean technologies.

Frictions can relate to local and sectoral economic conditions (e.g., geographic mismatches between available workers and jobs), as well as broad macroeconomic conditions (e.g., strong economies have relatively few available workers). An internally consistent forecast would capture local and sectoral economic conditions, as well as broader macroeconomic ones, and reflect how macroeconomic changes influence the outlook for the transition to a clean energy economy. Existing models differ in their ability to capture various sources of frictions (CEA and OMB 2023), and the analysis of these frictions and their implications for the clean energy transition would benefit from further research (CEA et al. 2023).

We consider four key market frictions that will influence supply and demand of clean technologies and, hence, the broader transition: labor, capital, financial, and supply chain. Additionally, we discuss risks stemming from variation in natural conditions and climate change and adaptation measures in response to physical risk, which will also influence the transition to a clean energy economy.

Labor frictions: Along the transition to a clean energy economy, demand for certain types of labor to develop the technologies and related infrastructure and to deploy those technologies may exceed supply, with implications for wages, investments in human capital, and the pace of deployment. The temporal, sectoral, and spatial resolution applied in an estimation influences the types of labor frictions that can be captured. For example, modeling with five-year or longer time steps tends to abstract away from the short-term economic implications of labor frictions.³¹ Reduced-form approaches, such as those that apply adjustment costs from changes in labor employed, are sometimes used in macroeconomic modeling to proxy for labor frictions (e.g., Bloom 2009; Christiano et al. 2015).

Capital frictions: Many models of the clean energy transition assume "irreversibility" frictions in what is often called the "putty-clay" model, under which capital deployed for a particular use cannot be repurposed (e.g., <u>Joint Global Change Research Institution n.d. a</u>; <u>McKibbin Software Group n.d.</u>). If capital allocated to support the extraction and use of carbon-based resources is irreversible, then it may not be easily reapplied or resold. Capital that is already applied to emissions-intensive activities curbs the clean energy transition by both producing emissions and reducing the scope for clean technologies to be deployed.

Frictions may also be present during the installation of new capital, particularly in the face of structural change. For example, a new overhead transmission line for electricity can take over a decade from planning through construction (IEA 2023b). Additional frictions in the deployment of clean energy can arise due to the need to connect new facilities to the grid, which may have different technical requirements than older systems (Department of Energy 2023b). Aggregate

³¹ For example, it takes approximately three years for a worker to become fully trained as a wind turbine technician (<u>Department of Energy n.d.</u>). Modeling at quarterly or annual frequencies could capture differences between the supply and demand of wind turbine technicians. In general, worker shortages tend to lead to increased wages. Over the short term, the result is increased production costs, slowing deployment. However, increased wages also raise untrained workers' incentives to obtain training, ultimately boosting the number of technicians.

adjustment costs and other reduced-form approaches offer ways to estimate the effect of frictions to capital installation at the market level (e.g., <u>Joint Global Change Research Institution n.d. a</u>; <u>McKibbin Software Group n.d.</u>).

Financial frictions: The levelized cost of renewable electricity is more sensitive to financial conditions like interest rates than the levelized cost of carbon-based electricity (<u>Bistline et al.</u> 2023). Renewable energy developers have greater need for initial external sources of financing, as they incur a greater portion of their costs before revenues are generated, whereas ongoing operational expenses play a larger role for carbon-based energy sources (<u>Bistline et al.</u> 2023). Policy choices, such as when subsidies are provided relative to when installation or production occurs, may play an important role.³² Modeling approaches with long time steps may not be able to capture the financial frictions arising from cashflow timing issues. Additionally, financial investors are increasingly seeking information related to companies' exposures to climate risk (<u>Ilhan et al.</u> 2023). Broader access to accurate and consistent information on risk exposures might realign credit and equity availability more closely to investors' preferences. In addition, the approaches taken to model the transition to a clean energy economy typically capture at most limited characteristics of the financial sector and associated frictions, a problem that macroeconomic modeling faces more generally (<u>Pollitt and Mercure 2018</u>).

Supply chain frictions: Supply chain frictions are relevant to the clean energy transition because of the increased demand for a resilient global supply chain of new products to build, maintain, and expand energy infrastructure. As a result, global resource constraints may arise over the short term (IEA 2022). At a high level, models with endogenous prices and deployment can capture the implications of any mismatches between supply and demand for clean technologies. But models differ in the extent to which they capture supply and demand constraints for key upstream inputs, such as rare earth metals (Bistline et al. 2024). Relatedly, upstream sectors themselves are subject to frictions, and different technologies' competitiveness may be affected by how well established their respective supply networks are.

Physical risk and adaptation measures: The physical risks of climate change are interconnected with the risks and opportunities of the transition to a clean energy economy. For example, many energy technologies—such as hydroelectric power, hydrogen, and thermal generators—rely on water supply (Zamuda et al. 2023). Changes in precipitation patterns, droughts, and extreme heat would all influence such technologies' productivity and relative competitiveness. Risks of water scarcity and rising water temperatures, which would impede water's efficacy as a coolant, could spur further use of water-lean methods of power generation like wind and solar to enhance resilience to these physical risks (Sanders 2015).³³ Additionally, the rise in extreme weather events over recent years underscores the risks to electricity transmission infrastructure and networks, and extreme heat events and other climate hazards

³² Many of the tax credit subsidies created or expanded by the IRA are transferable, which enables firms to exchange future subsidy payments for upfront financing from private intermediaries. This transferability makes the subsidy payments close but not equivalent to upfront support, given intermediation costs.

³³ As physical risks are multifaceted, increased resiliency against some risks will not necessarily increase resiliency against all risks. For example, shifts in wind and cloud coverage would affect the productivity of wind and solar generation, respectively, but have less of an effect on other means of electricity production.

influence electricity demand (Zamuda et al. 2023). Capturing the macroeconomic implications of how physical risks will influence the clean energy transition is a key area for future research.

In addition to their effects on clean energy technologies, physical risks may have macroeconomically significant effects on investment due to adaptation spending and other resilience measures. ³⁴ These additional investments are unlikely to be reflected in either baseline macroeconomic forecasts or modeling exercises focused on mitigation. Structural modeling indicates that scenarios with higher severity of climate hazards have increased levels of adaptation investment (Fried 2022). Key areas for future research include expanding our understanding of: (1) existing adaptation actions; (2) the macroeconomic effects of those existing actions (e.g., increased investment); and (3) how the manner and degree of adaptation behaviors evolve over time, as economic decisionmakers increasingly account for the risks posed by climate hazards.

Step 3: Compute sector-specific changes

The next methodological choice is how to reflect the determinants of the transition to a clean energy economy in macroeconomic outcomes. In keeping with the broad macroeconomic framework discussed in <u>Section 2</u>, we consider two groups of economic outcomes: (1) capital investment and retirements; and (2) international trade.

To illustrate some of the dynamics in Steps 3 and 4, we rely on projections from the Global Change Analysis Model (GCAM).^{35, 36} We rely on GCAM's Reference scenario to capture energy-system dynamics prior to the enactment of major mitigation policies, and detail this scenario in <u>Appendix C</u>. We contrast the trajectory under GCAM's Reference scenario with GCAM's Current Policies scenario, which captures the effects of major policies implemented worldwide. The differences between these two scenarios reflect the extent to which policies have altered the outlooks across the energy system around the world. We focus on differences in the projected trajectory of the U.S. energy system and their implications on the macroeconomic outlook.

Capital investment and retirements

To capture effects on aggregate investment, we must account for both direct and indirect changes to investment. As in <u>Step 2</u>, we focus specifically on the power sector, for which GCAM provides dollar-based estimates.³⁷ Over the next decade, the power sector is poised to continue

³⁴ For example, increased investments in electricity transmission and distribution infrastructure will be necessary both to support the increased electrification of the economy (a mitigation action) and enhance resilience against the rising risks posed by extreme temperatures, wildfires, and other climate hazards (an adaptation action).

³⁵ We continue to rely on published multi-model projections to illustrate dynamics when we can do so. Otherwise, we rely on GCAM.

³⁶ As discussed in <u>Appendix C</u>, the latest version of GCAM endogenizes key macroeconomic variables, like GDP (<u>Patel et al. 2023</u>). Our GCAM results come from the preceding version, in which the macroeconomy is exogenous. ³⁷ Multi-model studies of the transition commonly focus on changes in sector emissions and metrics pertinent to particular sectors, rather than macroeconomic indicators. For example, EPA (<u>2023b</u>) considers changes in power capacity within the electricity sector and changes in EVs' share of new vehicle purchases for the transportation sector. Both metrics are correlated with changes in macroeconomic activity, but these metrics cannot be directly applied to a macroeconomic forecasting framework.

its transition to clean energy technologies. Increases in clean investment will likely displace investment that otherwise would have occurred for carbon-based power (Bistline et al. 2023). At the same time, infrastructure and equipment that is no longer economically competitive may be retired while it is still capable of operating; these instances reflect cases when the owner is financially better off by discontinuing operations (e.g., due to legal restrictions or because ongoing operating costs exceed revenues).³⁸ These "additional" capital retirements, beyond what occurs due to depreciation at a given point in time, directly lower the aggregate capital stock, reducing capital services and economic output, though retirements may also free up resources to fund new investments, which would reflect indirect increases in the aggregate capital stock.

Figure 6: Difference in Power Sector Investments & Retirements between GCAM Current Policies Scenario and GCAM Reference Scenario (Billions of 2023 USD)



Source: CEA and OMB calculations from GCAM results.

Note: Unabated Carbon-Based category includes plants fueled by coal, gas, or refined liquids that do not employ technologies to capture and store emissions

Figure 6 shows projected differences in power sector investments between GCAM's Current Policies and Reference scenarios. Power sector investments are persistently higher across the projection horizon under GCAM's Current Policies scenario than its Reference scenario. Through 2035, the difference between the two scenarios' investment projections declines as IRA provisions start to phase out. Combining over 2025, 2030, and 2035, the largest net additions to investment between GCAM's Reference and Current Policies scenarios are in wind, carbon capture and storage, and solar. In contrast, investment in unabated carbon-based power is persistently lower across GCAM's Current Policies scenario, though the decline in investment among these power sources is less than one tenth of the additional investment among cleaner

³⁸ Asset valuation frameworks can be helpful for anticipating the conditions under which different types of capital will continue to operate or be retired.

sources of power. Similarly, while capital retirements over the projection horizon are also higher under GCAM's Current Policies scenario, the projected additional investments are considerably larger.

Other major sectors' investment will also be directly influenced by the transition to a clean energy economy over the coming years, including fossil fuel extraction, vehicle manufacturing, the manufacturing of intermediate technologies and goods, heavy industry, and agriculture.³⁹ The net effects of the transition in these sectors will depend on changes in: (1) the total value of goods purchased; (2) the market share of U.S. production; and (3) the capital intensity of production. Estimating the macroeconomic effects of these sectors' transitions is a key area for further research.

The forecaster must also make assumptions about where new resources for clean technologies will originate. As Figure 6 suggests, the clean energy transition will require a net increase in investment over the coming years, not just a reallocation of investment that would have otherwise occurred. Consider two boundary scenarios. In one, the additional resources used by the power sector come from sources that would otherwise have been unused in the U.S. economy (e.g., idled properties and machines reactivated or imported from abroad). In the other boundary scenario, the rise in investment could fully displace activity elsewhere in the U.S. economy.⁴⁰ The literature gives only limited insight into the degree of resource displacement likely to occur along the transition to a clean energy economy, and in practice, the degree of resource displacement⁴¹ likely falls between the boundary scenarios.⁴² Economies with more underutilized resources than their peers are less susceptible to resource displacement,⁴³ and in fact, under some demand-oriented theories, economies typically operate with underutilized resources, implying that the clean energy transition will likely not lead to any resource displacement (Mercure et al. 2019).

History offers a few applicable insights into determining the degree of resource displacement. Previous economy-wide efforts to mitigate environmental and health effects of production—e.g.,

³⁹ Fossil fuel prices will likely be altered by the transition to a clean energy economy, which in turn will affect investment incentives in the extraction and mining sectors. Additionally, the transition of the transportation sector will lead to a shift toward EV purchases, and domestic manufacturers will consequently need to shift their production toward EVs, as well. Similarly, the transition to a clean energy economy will require significant changes in the intermediary manufacturing sector due to the changes downstream. These changes may lead to investments in new plants devoted to EV production and clean intermediate technologies and less investment in plants that produce

gasoline-fueled vehicles or equipment supporting emissions-intensive output.

⁴⁰ For example, at any given time, a fixed number of construction cranes are operational in the United States. Every construction crane allocated to building a power plant is one less crane that can be used to build houses, non-energy plants, or other structures.

⁴¹ What we refer to as "resource displacement" has been referred to elsewhere (e.g., <u>Mercure et al. 2019</u>; <u>Bistline et al. 2023</u>) as a type of crowding out. As the phrase "crowd out" is conventionally used in fiscal contexts, we apply a distinct phrase to clarify that our focus is on factors of production.

⁴² Bistline et al. (2023) note that it is in fact theoretically possible to have excess displacement, where the rise in investment actually spurs a temporary decline in GDP. This would require a sufficiently high elasticity of intertemporal substitution, which would spur a large shift into energy investment and away from non-energy capital. Such a shift would generate a rise in long-term capacity, at the expense of output in the near term.

⁴³ For example, Chodorow-Reich (2019) finds positive effects on employment from fiscal stimulus during the Great Recession in the United States.

to address causes of acid rain, to transition away from leaded gas—provide evidence on the effect of large-scale efforts to reduce emissions from the energy sector. The clean energy transition requires both building new clean infrastructure and retrofitting many existing assets swiftly across a range of sectors to address climate change, all while maintaining affordability and reliability and increasing resilience against physical risk. Correspondingly, policy responses to support the transition may differ in important ways from past efforts. For example, the literature pertaining to displacement from public infrastructure investment is not relevant for policies supporting the clean energy transition.⁴⁴ Studies examining large-scale changes in particular sectors (e.g., Ramey and Shapiro 2001) could be informative, but in using them it would be important to attend to differences in scale and scope. And though a separate literature assesses the extent to which R&D within the energy sector displaces the same activity outside the sector, the literature's current findings are mixed.⁴⁵ Furthermore, the literature's general findings may not be directly applicable to the primary drivers of the transition to a clean energy economy, particularly as its focus on emissions taxes does not directly relate to the United States' policy environment.⁴⁶ Clean energy subsidies and the emissions taxes researched in the R&D context target different groups of firms and, hence, likely generate different sectoral responses.⁴⁷ Studies that can quantify displacement from equipment and structures investment and in response to subsidies rather than taxes—would more directly address the dynamics likely to arise in the U.S. economy due to the clean energy transition. Such questions would benefit from further investigation (CEA et al. 2023).

Another important decision around resource displacement regards the economic activity that will be displaced. A tractable assumption is "like for like" (e.g., equipment investment displaces

⁴⁴ Our assessment stems from three primary reasons. First, because the focus of the United States' clean energy policy is to induce private investment, companies generally need to expand if they want to receive increased benefits from such policies (e.g., the production credits and rebates on EV sales provide incentives for output, rather than input). In contrast, since a substantial share of Federal infrastructure is funded collaboratively between Federal, State, and local governments, strategic interactions may occur between different governments; for example, an additional Federal dollar of highway funding might entice a State government to spend less than it had originally planned on highways and instead spend on other services. Second, companies typically need to start investing and producing before they receive tax benefits from policies like the IRA. In contrast, public infrastructure investment can take a considerable time to manifest, and much of the money appropriated may not be spent until years after enactment. Third, unlike public infrastructure for highways and ports, the deployment of clean technology infrastructure in the United States is still in its early stages, meaning appropriately designed policies can mitigate coordination issues and send demand signals, which are more likely to spur sectoral investment by the private sector than offset it (Boushey 2023).

⁴⁵ Some studies find evidence of displacement from energy sector R&D, while others do not. For example, Popp (2004) estimates that energy sector R&D partially displaces R&D across other sectors, but the estimate is imprecise and statistically insignificant at the 10 percent confidence level. Popp and Newell (2012) find displacement within the energy sector but not into other sectors. Similarly, Noailly and Smeets (2015) find displacement between the fossil fuel and clean energy R&D, but do not test for cross-sector displacement. Conversely, Gray and Shadbegian (1998) and Hottenrott and Rexhäuser (2015) find empirical evidence of within-firm crowding out for environmental R&D, for example geared toward reducing pollution abatement costs.

⁴⁶ For example, the tax provisions in the IRA primarily support the production and consumption of clean energy technologies, rather than R&D (<u>White House Office 2023</u>).

⁴⁷ For example, the physical resources and worker expertise for R&D are likely more specialized than what is needed for equipment and structures investment, and this specialization might moderate the degree of displacement.

equipment investment).⁴⁸ However, broad reallocations could occur. In particular, the increase in demand for clean technology investment does not directly reduce investment demand elsewhere. An increase in aggregate investment demand could prompt businesses to increase the production of capital goods; that rise in investment demand would, all else being equal, push interest rates higher, increasing the supply of aggregate savings. Consequently, resource displacement may partly involve aggregate consumption, in order to support an increase in aggregate investment.⁴⁹ A key area for future research is to evaluate what sort of economic activity investments driving the clean energy transition will likely displace.

International trade

The transition to a clean energy economy will affect several sectors closely integrated with international markets. In particular, prices for many commodities related to the energy sector or clean technologies, such as petroleum products and critical minerals, are set globally. Relatedly, the United States is a prominent importer and exporter of fossil fuel commodities, which will likely be affected by the clean energy transition, as well as other equipment and inputs used in carbon-based and clean energy business activity. Additionally, as imports account for a significant share of the capital goods employed for U.S. investment, we consider how the transition's increased investment needs may influence imports.

Before proceeding, we note that U.S. imports and exports are prominent channels through which the national economy could be influenced by the policies employed by other countries, such as carbon border adjustment measures or clean technology subsidies. The effects of such policies on the U.S. economy would vary with the type of policy, its scope, and the country implementing it, among other factors.

Varvares (2023) characterizes the future trajectory of fossil fuel prices as one of the "deep uncertainties" surrounding the modeling and forecasting of the clean energy transition. Consider the price of oil. Standard economic theory suggests that the evolution of a price depends on whether the resource's supply or demand falls faster. Projected movements in supply and demand depend critically on assumptions about price elasticities, as well as the availability of clean energy alternatives, international dynamics, and supply-side frictions, as discussed in <u>Step</u> 1 and <u>Step 2</u>. Such assessments would need to be sector specific, to account for downstream industries currently reliant on oil byproducts. For oil in particular, international dynamics would include questions about who the marginal producer is and decisions that institutions like the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries might make. Reduced-form time series techniques could leverage historical relationships to generate forecasts, but they may struggle to capture the ways in which the future might differ from the past because of the transition to a clean energy economy. The complexity of robust methods and less reliable nature of tractable methods make the future prices of fossil fuels during a clean energy transition deeply uncertain.

⁴⁸ The "like for like" assumption may be less applicable for measures related to energy efficiency or consumption, as many clean technologies have different energy footprints than other technologies.

⁴⁹ If resource displacement leads to less contemporaneous aggregate consumption than would have otherwise occurred, the relative decline would only be temporary. In this case, the foregone consumption stems from increased savings, which in turn yield gains in future wealth and aggregate productive capacity, boosting future consumption.

U.S. imports and exports may also be influenced by the transition to a clean energy economy. Over the decade leading up to 2023, fossil fuel energy products accounted for 13 percent of the value of goods exported and 9 percent of the value of goods imported on average.⁵⁰ As with fossil fuel prices, the outlook for net fossil fuel imports along the clean energy transition is uncertain.⁵¹ Methods that account for cross-country flows can separately estimate gross imports and exports. If those detailed flows are not available, projections of domestic consumption and production of fossil fuels could still track changes in net imports and, hence, the direct effects on overall GDP.

Another critical import channel relates to investment. If aggregate investment is forecast to increase due to the transition to a clean energy economy (i.e., if resource displacement is not assumed to be complete), the additional investment will likely require additional imports. Over the decade ending in 2023, imports of capital goods and related parts, excluding the automotive sector, accounted for approximately 20 percent of private fixed investment. ⁵² More granular investment projections could account for variation in the capital composition of different sectors, including new sectors that are not reflected in existing data, the degree of sectoral expansion due to the transition to a clean energy economy, and the degree to which different forms of capital are likely to be imported.

Step 4: Compute economy-wide changes

The final methodological choice is how to map sector-specific macroeconomic effects to economy-wide changes. In keeping with the supply-side framework described in <u>Section 2</u>, we characterize the clean energy transition's macroeconomic implications by evaluating its effects on aggregate capital, aggregate labor, and aggregate multifactor productivity. Given the pervasive nature of energy throughout the economy, we also discuss the transition's implications for price inflation.

Aggregate capital

The transition to a clean energy economy will affect the trajectory of aggregate capital through its effects on changes in aggregate investment and capital retirements. The aggregate capital trajectory, in turn, affects labor productivity. The standard perpetual-inventory model allows for the investments generated by the clean energy transition to be incorporated into the aggregate capital stock. In contrast, at least two approaches could be taken with the additional capital retirements: (1) measure direct reductions to the aggregate capital stock, similar to the treatment of capital losses during natural disasters; or (2) adjust capital depreciation rates upward to

⁵⁰ Over the decade to 2023, goods exports accounted for 8 percent of U.S. GDP, while goods imports amounted to 12 percent of U.S. GDP, on average. Data come from the Bureau of Economic Analysis' National Income and Product Accounts and International Transactions Accounts.

⁵¹ If domestic demand declines faster than domestic supply, producers can still export to consumers abroad. Similarly, if domestic supply declines faster than domestic demand, consumers can still import from producers abroad.

⁵² Data come from the Bureau of Economic Analysis' National Income and Product Accounts and International Transactions Accounts.

achieve the same fall in the aggregate capital stock.⁵³ Assuming direct reductions implies that the retirements are unexpected, whereas adjusting depreciation rates implies anticipation, a distinction that affects the treatment of other macroeconomic conditions. For example, anticipated changes to depreciation rates would also be priced into capital rental rates, whereas unanticipated direct reductions would not affect these rates ex ante. Fundamentally, the appropriate choice depends on which conceptual premise aligns most closely with the forecaster's views of how much the current economy will respond to future dynamics related to the transition to a clean energy economy.

Given changes to the aggregate capital stock, changes to labor productivity can be projected through the flow of capital services. Assuming competitive pricing, rental rates on capital reflect their marginal productivity. Accordingly, the changes in the capital stock, alongside rental rates, offer a measure of productivity growth. Since rental rates vary by capital type, the projected changes to the aggregate capital stock could be decomposed (e.g., among nonresidential structures, equipment, and intellectual property). This approach would be particularly important if additional capital retirements were being accounted for by changes in depreciation rates, which should also be reflected in capital rental rates.

Using this general framework, we can illustrate the aggregate effects of additional investment spurred by the transition to a clean energy economy and the implications of different assumptions on resource displacement. To measure changes in sector-level activity, we rely on the differences in power sector investment and capital retirement projections across GCAM's Current Policies and Reference scenarios shown in Figure 6. For our baseline macroeconomic forecast, we use the forecast underpinning the FY25 President's Budget.⁵⁴ To account for changes in capital services, we assume that additional capital retirements are unexpected⁵⁵ and that depreciation and capital rental rates are unchanged by additional power sector investments.⁵⁶ We apply the "like for like" assumption described above so that new equipment investment displaces other equipment investment and new structures investment displaces other structures investment. Given these assumptions, Figure 7 illustrates the implications on real GDP of displacement rates of 25 percent, 50 percent, and 75 percent, holding all else about the forecast

⁵³ Valuation methodologies that leverage asset pricing techniques can be particularly useful in projecting economic depreciation.

⁵⁴ The macroeconomic forecast used in the FY25 President's Budget does not explicitly account for the macroeconomic effects of the transition to a clean energy economy. We assume that its investment trajectories are consistent with GCAM's Reference scenario from 2025 onward.

⁵⁵ In practice, retirements due to changes in economic competitiveness are often planned, and hence, the assumption that such retirements are unexpected is a simplification for tractability.

⁵⁶ We assume further that power sector investments and capital retirements are allocated in line with the current distribution of private sector investment and capital across the utilities sector. We allocate power sector investments equally between nonresidential structures and non-computer equipment and allocate 75 percent of additional retirements to nonresidential structures and the remaining 25 percent to non-computer equipment.

equal. Clearly, assumptions around resource displacement have significant implications for the macroeconomic forecast.





Source: CEA and OMB calculations from GCAM projections.

Aggregate labor

As noted in <u>Section 2</u>, changes in aggregate labor can arise from changes in the population, labor force participation, the share of the labor force employed, and average hours worked. All else being equal, the expansion in investment needed to build out the clean energy economy would likely lead to an expansion in key sectors' labor demand while the transition is underway. In periods of economic slack, such as when the unemployment rate is elevated, expansions in labor demand can be satisfied by increased hiring, raising aggregate labor. However, if labor markets are already forecast to be operating at full employment, increasing aggregate labor can be challenging, particularly over the sustained period necessary to support the transition to a clean energy economy. Consequently, when the economy is already forecast to be running at full employment, it is more likely that the build-out needed to drive the transition to a clean energy economy will lead to a reallocation of labor across sectors, rather than an increase in aggregate labor.

Still, some evidence suggests that the deployment of clean technologies can boost local employment. From the perspective of a macroeconomic forecast, what matters is whether those

Note: These projections only focus on changes in the aggregate capital stock driven by the power sector, and do not provide comprehensive estimates of the clean energy transition's effects on the macroeconomy. The graphed trends reflect the net changes to power sector investment and capital retirement, as well as the assumed displacement of investment across other sectors.

local increases in labor activity represent increases in aggregate labor or the geographical movement of workers toward new job opportunities. For the power sector, local-level evidence indicates that the construction of power plants and similar technologies does have broad positive economic effects, such as creating indirectly supported jobs (e.g., <u>Kline and Moretti 2014</u>; <u>National Renewable Energy Laboratory n.d.</u>). Additionally, analysis by the Department of Energy (2023c) shows that employment growth in the energy sector outpaced the economy-wide average in 2022, with expansions in every state and across a range of sectors.⁵⁷ This growth aligns with broad evidence that geographical spillovers and agglomeration effects can spur sustained changes in regional business activity (CEA 2021).

The aggregate effects of positive local spillovers may be particularly large for investments spurred by U.S. clean energy policies. For example, analysis of clean technology manufacturing investments following the IRA's enactment show that planned activity occurs disproportionately in communities with relatively few economic opportunities (Van Nostrand and Feiveson 2023; Van Nostrand and Ashenfarb 2023).⁵⁸ Similarly, Parilla et al. (2024) find that over 2021 and 2022, 28 percent of clean energy investments were in employment-distressed counties, well above the shares for overall nonresidential private fixed investment (7 percent) and nonresidential private fixed investment in structures (10 percent).⁵⁹ These data suggest the buildout of a clean energy economy expands employment opportunities where they are scarce. The extent to which these positions draw local residents into the labor force, as opposed to drawing in workers from other areas, depends on factors like the positions' skill needs and broad labor market frictions. But, if investments in such places can support increased labor force participation across local residents, they could boost aggregate labor supply. Quantifying these clean technology investments' effects on labor markets and the pass-through of changes in local labor markets to aggregates is a question for further research.

Aggregate multifactor productivity

Within the context of our high-level, supply-side framework (<u>Section 2</u>), aggregate multifactor productivity reflects how effective the economy is at combining capital and labor to produce output. The transition to a clean energy economy could affect aggregate multifactor productivity through several channels. Here, we qualitatively discuss effects stemming from the expansion in clean technology R&D and investment, as well as the ways in which changes in energy costs could affect productivity across the economy.

As discussed, the development of novel technologies to propel the clean energy transition could expand the economy's innovation capacity. If there are tradeoffs in the allocation of resources between R&D and consumption or residential investment, then aggregate multifactor

⁵⁷ Note that these statements about employment in the energy sector reflect net effects. Similar to the investment trends in Figure 6, employment growth is not likely to be uniform within energy subsectors. As Figure 6 illustrates a net expansion in investment, on net most energy subsectors and localities will likely experience increases in employment over the coming years.

⁵⁸ While it is too soon to attribute the geographical siting of these planned investments to the IRA, these outcomes are consistent with the IRA's place-based initiatives, including those tied to Justice40 (<u>White House Office n.d.</u>). ⁵⁹ Parilla et al. (2024) classify a county as employment-distressed if: (1) its employment rate across 25–54-year-olds is at least 5 percentage points below the national average; and (2) median household income is less than \$75,000.

productivity in the business sector increases. If instead the resources displace R&D spending across the rest of the economy, innovations may be effectively reallocated across sectors, with no net effect on aggregate multifactor productivity. While some research (e.g., <u>Acemoglu et al.</u> 2012) finds that a reallocation toward clean technologies can have a temporary net negative effect on aggregate multifactor productivity, the policy environment can have considerable influence on the timing of productivity gains and tradeoffs between productivity in the energy and non-energy sectors (<u>Pisani-Ferry and Mahfouz 2023</u>; <u>Acemoglu et al.</u> 2012).⁶⁰

The energy transition may also indirectly affect productivity outside the energy sector if it affects energy prices. Empirical analyses have shown sustained economic gains from energy price reductions (Stern and Enflo 2013; Fiszbein et al. 2022).⁶¹ Analyses of energy price shocks, however, suggest different effects over shorter periods. For example, use of energy saving technologies in the United States rose following oil price shocks in the 1970s (Hassler et al. 2021), and European businesses defied many expectations over the winter of 2022, when they were broadly able to continue to operate despite a sharp increase in energy prices (Zeniewski et al. 2023).⁶² How applicable these results are to the upcoming energy transition is unclear, as their focus on energy price shocks contrasts with the widely anticipated shift toward clean energy sources.

The clean energy transition is a good example of why aggregate multifactor productivity is often referred to as "a measure of our ignorance" (e.g., <u>Abramovitz 1956</u>). We are not aware of frameworks that could quantify the changes in aggregate multifactor productivity across the channels described above, much less their combined effects. Such frameworks are a promising direction for future research.

Inflation

Over the long run, inflation should tend to be stable around its target rate due to effective monetary policy. But across shorter intervals, the transition to a clean energy economy could affect overall price growth due to changes in the cost and demand for energy and the rise in investment demand.

 $^{^{60}}$ Acemoglu et al. (2012), for example, find that subsidies to R&D innovations help to accelerate the transition to a clean energy economy and that a swift transition is less costly overall than a long one.

⁶¹ Additionally, producing and running artificial intelligence technologies is extremely energy intensive (<u>Lin and</u> <u>Voas 2023</u>); cheaper access to power could catalyze growth in the sector, which could in turn potentially unlock productivity gains in the overall economy.

⁶² As Zeniewski et al. (2023) note, policy measures, including fiscal support, helped to mitigate the disruptions causing spiked energy prices. Business-driven responses included supply chain adjustments and shifts in fuel sourcing.

The transition to a clean energy economy will lead to two notable changes regarding energy prices. First, electricity will be increasingly generated from clean sources, in part due to subsidies provided by policies. Second, as the broad economy becomes more electrified, electricity will account for a greater share of total energy consumption. Figure 8 shows that various models project a decrease in wholesale electricity prices in 2035 due to the IRA. While projected changes to retail electricity prices are more varied, nearly all models show a decline in residential retail prices over time and the multi-sector studies show consumers benefit on net due to less reliance on non-electricity energy sources (Bistline et al. 2024).

Figure 8. Projections of Electricity Prices in Scenarios with and without IRA across Different Models



Source: Figure S17 of Bistline et al. (2024). Note: Bars correspond to different models.

Additionally, the investment spurred by the transition to a clean energy economy and the potential for resource displacement might generate short-term changes to price dynamics. If supply constraints impede the ability of markets of clean technologies and related products to absorb increased demand, the imbalance would put temporary upward pressure on those products' prices to better align supply and demand. Given the sustained duration over which the transition will boost investment demand for clean technologies, these temporary upward pressures due to frictions might persist for longer. However, the broad implications of these upward pressures are ambiguous. The anticipated nature of the sustained duration of the

demand. Additionally, changes in monetary policy can help ensure that overall inflation remains at its target rate. Consequently, within the context of a multiyear, central-tendency macroeconomic forecast, the trajectory of inflation is likely to be unchanged by the increased investments due to the clean energy transition.

4. Conclusion

Climate change poses a range of risks to the United States for the foreseeable future. At the same time, the clean energy transition is gaining pace in the country and is poised to advance further in the coming years. The Federal Government recognizes it is crucial to ensure it is prepared for the changes likely to arise due to physical risks and transition risks and opportunities (EO 14030). Such preparation calls for a whole-of-government approach and an interdisciplinary assessment that reflects the interrelationships among climate, energy systems, and the economy, along with other dimensions. This paper addresses one component of that assessment: the mechanisms through which physical risks and transition risks and opportunities will affect the macroeconomic assumptions underpinning budget forecasts. We develop a step-by-step methodological framework for accounting for physical risks and the clean energy transition in a macroeconomic forecast. In doing so, we leverage advances made in a range of fields and identify several key areas for future research. This paper's focus on the macroeconomic assumptions used in budget forecasts complements other efforts within EO 14030, such as assessments of programmatic climate risk to the Federal Budget, and broader actions across the Federal Government.

References

- Abramovitz, M. 1956. "Resource and Output Trends in the United States since 1870." *American Economic Review*, 46, no. 2: 5-23. Available through the National Bureau of Economic Research at https://www.nber.org/system/files/chapters/c5650/c5650.pdf.
- Acemoglu, D., P. Aghion, L. Bursztyn, and D. Hemous. 2012. "The Environment and Directed Technical Change." *American Economic Review* 102, no. 1: 131-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.102.1.131</u>.
- Ackerman, F. and E. Stanton. 2008. "A Comment on 'Economy-Wide Estimates of the Implications of Climate Change: Human Health'." *Ecological Economics* 66, no. 1: 8-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.10.006.
- Angeli, M., C. Archer, S. Batten, A. Cesa-Bianchi, L. D'Aguanno, A. Haberis, T. Löber, S. Maxwell, R. Sajedi, M. van der Merwe, B. Wanengkirtyo, and C. Young. 2022. "Climate Change: Possible Macroeconomic Implications." *Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin* 2022 Q4. <u>https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/quarterly-bulletin/2022/2022-q4/climate-change-possible-macroeconomic-implications.</u>
- Anthoff, D. and R. Tol. n.d. "FUND Model." https://www.fund-model.org/.
- Arias, P., N. Bellouin, E. Coppola, R. Jones, G. Krinner, J. Marotzke, V. Naik, M. Palmer, G. Plattner, J. Rogelj, M. Rojas, J. Sillmann, T. Storelvmo, P. Thorne, B. Trewin, K. AchutaRao, B. Adhikary, R. Allan, K. Armour, G. Bala, R. Barimalala, S. Berger, J. Canadell, C. Cassou, A. Cherchi, W. Collins, W. Collins, S. Connors, S. Corti, F. Cruz, F. Dentener, C. Dereczynski, A. Di Luca, A. Diongue Niang, F. Doblas-Reyes, A. Dosio, H. Douville, F. Engelbrecht, V. Eyring, E. Fischer, P. Forster, B. Fox-Kemper, J. Fuglestvedt, J. Fyfe, N. Gillett, L. Goldfarb, I. Gorodetskaya, J. Gutierrez, R. Hamdi, E. Hawkins, H. Hewitt, P. Hope, A. Islam, C. Jones, D. Kaufman, R. Kopp, Y. Kosaka, J. Kossin, S. Krakovska, J. Lee, J. Li, T. Mauritsen, T. Maycock, M. Meinshausen, S. Min, P. Monteiro, T. Ngo-Duc, F. Otto, I. Pinto, A. Pirani, K. Raghavan, R. Ranasinghe, A. Ruane, L. Ruiz, J. Sallée, B. Samset, S. Sathyendranath, S. Seneviratne, A. Sörensson, S. Szopa, I. Takayabu, A. Tréguier, B. van den Hurk, R. Vautard, K. von Schuckmann, S. Zaehle, X. Zhang, and K. Zickfeld. 2021. "Technical Summary." In Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Working Group I Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 33-144. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157896.002.
- Ascari, G., D. Bonam, and A. Smadu. 2024. "Global Supply Chain Pressures, Inflation, and Implications for Monetary Policy." *Journal of International Money and Finance* 142: 103029. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jimonfin.2024.103029</u>.
- Auffhammer, M. 2018. "Quantifying Economic Damages from Climate Change." *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 32, no. 4: 33-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.32.4.33</u>.
- Auffhammer, M., P. Baylis, and C. Hausman. 2017. "Climate Change is Projected to Have Severe Impacts on the Frequency and Intensity of Peak Electricity Demand across the United States." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114, no. 8: 1886-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1613193114</u>.

- Baker, E., A. Harper, D. Williamson, and P. Challenor. 2022. "Emulation of High-Resolution Land Surface Models using Sparse Gaussian Processes with Application to JULES." *Geoscientific Model Development* 15, no. 5: 1913-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-15-1913-</u> 2022.
- Bakkensen, L. and L. Barrage. 2021. "Climate Shocks, Cyclones, and Economic Growth: Bridging the Micro-Macro Gap." Updated version of NBER Working Paper 24893. National Bureau of Economic Research. https://www.lintbarrage.com/_files/ugd/66d8d1_e1940dc698eb48ddb75956cf064c4f68.pdf.
- Balint, T., F. Lamperti, A. Mandel, M. Napoletano, A. Roventini, and A. Sapio. 2017. "Complexity and the Economics of Climate Change: A Survey and a Look Forward." *Ecological Economics* 138: 252-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2017.03.032.
- Barrage, L. 2020. "Optimal Dynamic Carbon Taxes in a Climate-Economy Model with Distortionary Fiscal Policy." *The Review of Economic Studies* 87, no. 1: 1-39. https://doi.org/10.1093/restud/rdz055.
- Barreca, A., K. Clay, O. Deschênes, M. Greenstone, and J. Shapiro. 2016. "Adapting to Climate Change: The Remarkable Decline in the US Temperature-Mortality Relationship over the Twentieth Century." *Journal of Political Economy* 124, no. 1: 105-59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/684582</u>.
- Basker, E. and J. Miranda. 2018. "Taken by Storm: Business Financing and Survival in the Aftermath of Hurricane Katrina." *Journal of Economic Geography* 18, no. 6: 1285-313. https://doi.org/10.1093/jeg/lbx023.
- Batten, S. 2018. "Climate Change and the Macro-economy: A Critical Review." Staff Working Paper No. 706, Bank of England. <u>https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/-/media/boe/files/working-paper/2018/climate-change-and-the-macro-economy-a-critical-review.pdf</u>.
- Batten, S., R. Sowerbutts, and M. Tanaka. 2020. "Climate Change: Macroeconomic Impact and Implications for Monetary Policy." In *Ecological, Societal, and Technological Risks and the Financial Sector*, ed. Walker, T. D. Gramlich, M. Bitar, and P. Fardnia, 13-38. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-38858-4_2</u>.
- Beach, R., Y. Cai, A. Thomson, X. Zhang, R. Jones, B. McCarl, A. Crimmins, J. Martinich, J. Cole, S. Ohrel, B. DeAngelo, J. McFarland, K. Strzepek, and B. Boehlert. 2015. "Climate Change Impacts on US Agriculture and Forestry: Benefits of Global Climate Stabilization." *Environmental Research Letters* 10, no. 9: 095004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/9/095004</u>.
- Bilal, A. and E. Rossi-Hansberg. 2023. "Anticipating Climate Change Across the United States." NBER Working Paper 31323. National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w31323.
- Bin, O., B. Poulter, C. Dumas, and J. Whitehead. 2011. "Measuring the Impact of Sea-Level Rise on Coastal Real Estate: A Hedonic Property Model Approach." *Journal of Regional Science* 51, no. 4: 751-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9787.2010.00706.x</u>.

- Bistline, J., N. Mehrotra, and C. Wolfram. 2023. "Economic Implications of the Climate Provisions of the Inflation Reduction Act." NBER Working Paper 31267. National Bureau of Economic Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w31267</u>.
- Bistline, J., M. Brown, M. Domeshek, C. Marcy, N. Roy, G. Blanford, D. Burtraw, J. Farbes, A. Fawcett, A. Hamilton, J. Jenkins, R. Jones, B. King, H. Kolus, J. Larsen, A. Levin, M. Mahajan, E. Mayfield, J. McFarland, H. McJeon, R. Orvis, N. Patankar, K. Rennert, S. Robson, C. Roney, E. Russell, G. Schivley, D. Shawhan, D. Steinberg, N. Victor, S. Wenzel, J. Weyant, R. Wiser, M. Yuan, and A. Zhao. 2024. "Power Sector Impacts of the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022." *Environmental Research Letters* 19, no. 1: 014013. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ad0d3b.
- Bloom, N. 2009. "The Impact of Uncertainty Shocks." *Econometrica* 77, no. 3: 623-85. https://doi.org/10.3982/ECTA6248.
- Bolster, C., R. Mitchell, A. Kitts, A. Campbell, M. Cosh, T. Farrigan, A. Franzluebbers, D. Hoover, V. Jun, D. Peck, M. Schmer, and M. Smith. "Agriculture, Food Systems, and Rural Communities." Chapter 11 in: *Fifth National Climate Assessment*, eds. Crimmins, A., C. Avery, D. Easterling, K. Kunkel, B. Stewart, and T. Maycock. U.S. Global Change Research Program. <u>https://doi.org/10.7930/NCA5.2023.CH11</u>.
- Bond, S., A. Leblebicioğlu, and F. Schiantarelli. 2010. "Capital Accumulation and Growth: A New Look at the Empirical Evidence." *Journal of Applied Econometrics* 25, no. 7: 1073-99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jae.1163</u>.
- Borgschulte, M., D. Molitor, and E. Zou. 2022. "Air Pollution and the Labor Market: Evidence from Wildfire Smoke." *The Review of Economics and Statistics*: 1-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/rest_a_01243</u>.
- Boushey, H. 2023. "The Economics of Public Investment Crowding in Private Investment." Executive Office of the President, August 16. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-</u> room/blog/2023/08/16/the-economics-of-public-investment-crowding-in-private-investment/.
- Burke, M., S. Hsiang, and E. Miguel. 2015. "Global Non-Linear Effect of Temperature on Economic Production." *Nature* 527: 235-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15725</u>.
- Burke, M., A. Driscoll, S. Heft-Neal, S., J. Xue, J. Burney, and M. Wara. 2021. "The Changing Risk and Burden of Wildfire in the United States." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118, no. 2: e2011048118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2011048118</u>.
- Caldecott, B., E. Harnett, T. Cojoianu, I. Kok, and A. Pfeiffer. 2016. "Stranded Assets: A Climate Risk Challenge." Inter-American Development Bank (IDB). <u>https://webimages.iadb.org/publications/english/document/Stranded-Assets-A-Climate-Risk-Challenge.pdf</u>.
- Carleton, T. and S. Hsiang. 2016. "Social and Economic Impacts of Climate." *Science* 353, no. 6304: aad9837. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad9837</u>.
- Carleton, T., A. Jina, M. Delgado, M. Greenstone, T. Houser, S. Hsiang, A. Hultgren, R. Kopp, K. McCusker, I. Nath, J. Rising, A. Rode, H. Seo, A. Viaene, J. Yuan, and A. Zhang. 2022.
 "Valuing the Global Mortality Consequences of Climate Change Accounting for Adaptation Costs and Benefits." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 137, no. 4: 2037-205. https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjac020.

- Casey, G., S. Fried, and E. Goode. 2023. "Projecting the Impact of Rising Temperatures: The Role of Macroeconomic Dynamics." *IMF Economic Review* 71, no. 3: 688-718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41308-023-00203-0</u>.
- Catalano, M., L. Forni, and E. Pezzolla. 2020. "Climate-Change Adaptation: The Role of Fiscal Policy." *Resource and Energy Economics* 59: 101111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reseneeco.2019.07.005</u>.
- Cattaneo, C. and G. Peri. 2016. "The Migration Response to Increasing Temperatures." *Journal* of Development Economics 122: 127-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2016.05.004</u>.
- Cavallo, E., S. Galiani, I. Noy, and J. Pantano. 2013. "Catastrophic Natural Disasters and Economic Growth." *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 95, no. 5: 1549-61. https://doi.org/10.1162/REST_a_00413.
- Chodorow-Reich, G. 2019. "Geographic Cross-Sectional Fiscal Spending Multipliers: What Have We Learned?" *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 11, no. 2: 1-34. https://doi.org/10.1257/pol.20160465.
- Christiano, L., M. Eichenbaum, and M. Trabandt. 2015. "Understanding the Great Recession." *American Economy Journal: Macroeconomics* 7, no. 1: 110-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/mac.20140104</u>.
- Coalition of Finance Ministers for Climate Action, The (CFMCA). n.d. "Workstream Thematic Reports." <u>https://www.financeministersforclimate.org/workstream-thematic-reports</u>.
- Colelli, F., J. Emmerling, G. Marangoni, M. Mistry, and E. De Cian. 2022. "Increased Energy Use for Adaptation Significantly Impacts Mitigation Pathways." *Nature Communications* 13, no. 1: 4964. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-32471-1</u>.
- Congressional Budget Office (CBO). 2022. "Estimated Budgetary Effects of Public Law 117-169, to Provide Reconciliation Pursuant to Title II of S. Con. Res. 14." September 7. <u>https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/2022-09/PL117-169_9-7-22.pdf</u>.
- Correa, R., A. He, C. Herpfer, and U. Lel. 2023. "The Rising Tide Lifts Some Interest Rates: Climate Change, Natural Disasters and Loan Pricing." European Corporate Governance Institute–Finance Working Paper 889. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3710451</u>.
- Costinot, A., D. Donaldson, and C. Smith. 2016. "Evolving Comparative Advantage and the Impact of Climate Change in Agricultural Markets: Evidence from 1.7 Million Fields around the World." *Journal of Political Economy* 124, no. 1: 205-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/684719</u>.
- Council of Economic Advisers. 2021. "Innovation, Investment, and Inclusion: Accelerating the Energy Transition and Creating Good Jobs." Executive Office of the President, April 23. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/cea/written-materials/2021/04/23/innovation-investment-and-inclusion-accelerating-the-energy-transition-and-creating-good-jobs/</u>.
- Council of Economic Advisers (CEA). 2022. "Accelerating and Smoothing the Clean Energy Transition." Chapter 7 in *The Economic Report of the President*. U.S. Government Publishing Office. <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/ERP-2022/pdf/ERP-2022.pdf#page=226</u>.

- Council of Economic Advisers (CEA). 2023. "The Global Clean Energy Manufacturing Gap." Executive Office of the President. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/cea/written-</u>materials/2023/11/29/the-global-clean-energy-manufacturing-gap/.
- Council of Economic Advisers (CEA). 2024. "The Year in Review and the Years Ahead." Chapter 2 in *The Economic Report of the President*. U.S. Government Publishing Office. https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/ERP-2024/pdf/ERP-2024.pdf#page=66.
- Council of Economic Advisers and Office of Management and Budget (CEA and OMB). 2022. "Climate-Related Macroeconomic Risks and Opportunities." Executive Office of the President. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-</u> content/uploads/2022/04/CEA OMB Climate Macro WP 2022-430pm.pdf.
- Council of Economic Advisers and Office of Management and Budget (CEA and OMB). 2023. "Methodologies and Considerations for Integrating the Physical and Transition Risks of Climate Change into Macroeconomic Forecasting for the President's Budget." Executive Office of the President. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/CEA-OMB-White-Paper.pdf</u>.
- Council of Economic Advisers, Office of Management and Budget, and Department of the Treasury. 2023. "Tools to Support the Management of Near-Term Macroeconomic and Financial Climate Risks." Executive Office of the President and Department of the Treasury, December 22. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Memo_Tools-for-Near-Term-Climate-Risk-Management.pdf</u>.
- Crespo Cuaresma, J., J. Hlouskova, and M. Obersteiner. 2008. "Natural Disasters as Creative Destruction? Evidence from Developing Countries." *Economic Inquiry* 46, no. 2: 214-26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-7295.2007.00063.x.
- Dafermos, Y., M. Nikolaidi, and G. Galanis. 2018. "Climate Change, Financial Stability and Monetary Policy." *Ecological Economics* 152: 219-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2018.05.011</u>.
- Danish Research Institute for Economic Analysis and Modelling. n.d. "GreenREFORM Publications." <u>https://dreamgroup.dk/economic-models/greenreform/publications</u>.
- De Lima, C., J. Buzan, F. Moore, U. Baldos, M. Huber, and T. Hertel. 2021. "Heat Stress on Agricultural Workers Exacerbates Crop Impacts of Climate Change." *Environmental Research Letters* 16, no. 4: 044020. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abeb9f.
- Dell, M., B. Jones, and B. Olken. 2012. "Temperature Shocks and Economic Growth: Evidence from the Last Half Century." *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics* 4, no. 3: 66-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/mac.4.3.66</u>.
- Dellink, R., E. Lanzi, and J. Chateau. 2017. "International Trade Consequences of Climate Change." OCED Trade and Environment Working Papers, no. 2017/01. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9f446180-en</u>.
- Dellink, R., E. Lanzi, and J. Chateau. 2019. "The Sectoral and Regional Economic Consequences of Climate Change to 2060." *Environmental and Resource Economics* 72, no. 2: 309–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-017-0197-5</u>.

- Department of Energy (DOE). 2023a. "Scientists Find the Potential Key to Longer-Lasting Sodium Batteries for Electric Vehicles." Office of Science, Basic Energy Sciences, October 16. <u>https://www.energy.gov/science/bes/articles/scientists-find-potential-key-longer-lasting-sodium-batteries-electric</u>.
- Department of Energy (DOE). 2023b. "Tackling High Costs and Long Delays for Clean Energy Interconnection." Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy, Interconnection Innovation e-Xchange, May 11. <u>https://www.energy.gov/eere/i2x/articles/tackling-high-</u> <u>costs-and-long-delays-clean-energy-interconnection</u>.
- Department of Energy (DOE). 2023c. "United States Energy & Employment Report 2023." Office of Energy Jobs. <u>https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2023-</u>06/2023%20USEER%20REPORT-v2.pdf.
- Department of Energy (DOE). n.d. "Career Map: Wind Technician." Wind Energy Technologies Office. <u>https://www.energy.gov/eere/wind/career-map-wind-technician</u>.
- Department of State and Executive Office of the President. 2021. "The Long-Term Strategy of the United States: Pathways to Net-Zero Greenhouse Gas Emissions by 2050." <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/us-long-term-strategy.pdf</u>.
- Depsky, N., I. Bolliger, D. Allen, J. Choi, M. Delgado, M. Greenstone, A. Hamidi, T. Houser, R. Kopp, and S. Hsiang. 2023. "DSCIM-Coastal v1.1: An Open-Source Modeling Platform for Global Impacts of Sea Level Rise." *Geoscientific Model Development* 16, no. 14: 4331-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-16-4331-2023</u>.
- Deryugina, T. and S. Hsiang. 2017. "The Marginal Product of Climate." NBER Working Paper 24072. National Bureau of Economic Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w24072</u>.
- Deryugina, T., L. Kawano, and S. Levitt. 2018. "The Economic Impact of Hurricane Katrina on Its Victims: Evidence from Individual Tax Returns." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 10, no. 2: 202-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/app.20160307</u>.
- Deschênes, O. and M. Greenstone. 2007. "The Economic Impacts of Climate Change: Evidence from Agricultural Output and Random Fluctuations in Weather." *American Economic Review* 97, no. 1: 354-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.97.1.354</u>.
- Deschênes, O. and K. Meng. 2018. "Quasi-Experimental Methods in Environmental Economics: Opportunities and Challenges." *Handbook of Environmental Economics*, eds. Dasgupta, P., S. Pattanayak, and V. Smith. 4: 285-332. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1574009918300068.
- Desmet, K. and E. Rossi-Hansberg. 2021. "The Economic Impact of Climate Change over Time and Space." *The Reporter*, January 5. National Bureau of Economic Research, no 4, December: 16-20. <u>https://www.nber.org/reporter/2021number4/economic-impact-climate-change-over-time-and-space</u>.
- DeWaard, J., J. Johnson, and S. Whitaker. 2020. "Out-Migration from and Return Migration to Puerto Rico after Hurricane Maria: Evidence from the Consumer Credit Panel." *Population and Environment* 42: 28-42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-020-00339-5.

- Diaz, D. 2016. "Estimating Global Damages from Sea Level Rise with the Coastal Impact and Adaptation Model (CIAM)." *Climatic Change* 137, no. 1: 143-56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-016-1675-4.
- Dingel, J., K. Meng, and S. Hsiang. 2019. Spatial Correlation, Trade, and Inequality: Evidence from the Global Climate." NBER Working Paper 25447. National Bureau of Economic Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w25447</u>.
- Drupp, M and M. Hänsel. 2021. "Relative Prices and Climate Policy: How the Scarcity of Nonmarket Goods Drives Policy Evaluation." *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 13, no. 1: 168-201. https://doi.org/10.1257/pol.20180760.
- Eboli, F., R. Parrado, and R. Roson. 2010. "Climate-Change Feedback on Economic Growth: Explorations with a Dynamic General Equilibrium Model." *Environment and Development Economics* 15, no. 5: 515-33. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355770X10000252.
- Elia, A., M. Kamidelivand, F. Rogan, and B. Gallachóir. 2021. "Impacts of Innovation on Renewable Energy Technology Cost Reductions." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 138: 110488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.110488</u>.
- Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI). 2022. "Costs and Benefits of Proactive Climate Adaptation in the Electric Sector." Climate Resilience and Adaptation Imitative (READi) White Paper. <u>https://www.epri.com/research/products/00000003002025872</u>.
- Energy Information Administration (EIA). 2023. "Drought at the Panama Canal Delays Energy Shipments, Increasing Shipping Costs." *Today in Energy*, October 31. <u>https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=60842</u>.
- Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2021. "Technical Documentation on the Framework for Evaluating Damages and Impacts (FrEDI)." Updated July 2023. Office of Atmospheric Protection. EPA 430-R-21-004. <u>https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2023-08/Technical%20Documentation%20on%20the%20Framework%20for%20Evaluating%20D</u> <u>amages%20and%20Impacts_MainText_2023.07.pdf</u>.
- Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2023a. "Report on the Social Cost of Greenhouse Gases: Estimates Incorporating Recent Scientific Advances." Office of Policy and Office of Air and Radiation. EPA-HQ-OAR-2021-0317. https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2023-12/epa_scghg_2023_report_final.pdf.
- Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2023b. "Electricity Sector Emissions Impacts of the Inflation Reduction Act." Office of Atmospheric Protection. EPA 430-R-23-004. <u>https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2023-</u>09/Electricity_Emissions_Impacts_Inflation_Reduction_Act_Report_EPA-FINAL.pdf.
- Executive Office of the President (EOP). 2021. "Climate-Related Financial Risk". Executive Order 14030. May 20. Federal Register, 86 FR 27967: 27967-71. https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/05/25/2021-11168/climate-related-financial-risk.
- Executive Office of the President (EOP). 2022. "U.S. Innovation to Meet 2050 Climate Goals: Assessing Initial R&D Opportunities." Net-Zero Game Changers Working Group, Climate Innovation Working Group of the National Climate Task Force.

https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/U.S.-Innovation-to-Meet-2050-Climate-Goals.pdf.

- Fankhauser, S. and R. Tol. 2005. "On Climate Change and Economic Growth." *Resource and Energy Economics* 27, no. 1: 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reseneeco.2004.03.003</u>.
- Fant, C., J. Jacobs, P. Chinowsky, W. Sweet, N. Weiss, J. Sias, J. Martinich, and J. Neumann. 2021. "Mere Nuisance or Growing Threat? The Physical and Economic Impact of High Tide Flooding on US Road Networks." *Journal of Infrastructure Systems* 27, no. 4: 04021044. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)IS.1943-555X.0000652.
- Feyen, L., C. Baranzelli, I. Vandecasteele, F. Batista e Silva, A. Soria, C. Lavalle, F. Raes, M. Perry, F. Nemry, H. Demirel, M. Rozsai, A. Dosio, M. Donatelli, A. Srivastava, D. Fumagalli, S. Niemeyer, A. Camia, G. Libertà, Z. Vrontisi, S. Shrestha, P. Ciaian, M. Himics, B. Van Doorslaer, S. Barrios, N. Ibáñez, G. Forzieri, R. Rojas, A. Bianchi, P. Dowling, J. San Miguel, D. De Rigo, G. Caudullo, J. Barredo, D. Paci, J. Pycroft, B. Saveyn, D. Van Regemorter, T. Revesz, T. Vandyck, D. Ibarreta, and J. Ciscar. 2014. "Climate Impacts in Europe-The JRC PESETA II project." Joint Research Centre, Institute for Prospective Technological Studies. Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2791/7409.
- First Street Foundation. 2021. "The Cost of Climate." https://assets.firststreet.org/uploads/2021/02/The_Cost_of_Climate_FSF20210219-1.pdf.
- Fiszbein, M., J. Lafortune, E. Lewis, and J. Tessada. 2022. "Powering Up Productivity: The Effects of Electrification on U.S. Manufacturing." NBER Working Paper 28076. National Bureau of Economic Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w28076</u>.
- Fried, S. 2022. "Seawalls and Stilts: A Quantitative Macro Study of Climate Adaptation." *The Review of Economic Studies* 89, no. 6: 3303-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/restud/rdab099</u>.
- Graff Zivin, J. and M. Neidell. 2014. "Temperature and the Allocation of Time: Implications for Climate Change." *Journal of Labor Economics* 32, no. 1: 1-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/671766</u>.
- Gray, W. and R. Shadbegian. 1998. "Environmental Regulation, Investment Timing, and Technology Choice." *The Journal of Industrial Economics* 46, no. 2: 235-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6451.00070</u>.
- Hallegatte, S. and P. Dumas. 2009. "Can Natural Disasters Have Positive Consequences? Investigating the Role of Embodied Technical Change." *Ecological Economics* 68, no. 3: 777-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2008.06.011</u>.
- Hauer, M. 2017. "Migration Induced by Sea-Level Rise Could Reshape the US Population Landscape." *Nature Climate Change* 7: 321-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3271</u>.
- Hassler, J., P. Krusell, and C. Olovsson. 2021. "Directed Technical Change as a Response to Natural Resource Scarcity." *Journal of Political Economy* 129, no. 11: 3039-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/715849</u>.
- Hayden, M., P. Schramm, C. Beard, J. Bell, A. Bernstein, A. Bieniek-Tobasco, N. Cooley, M. Diuk-Wasser, M. Dorsey, K. Ebi, K. Ernst, M. Gorris, P. Howe, A. Khan, C. Lefthand-Begay, J. Maldonado, S. Saha, F. Shafiei, A. Vaidyanathan, and O. Wilhelmi. 2023. "Human

Health." Chapter 15 in *Fifth National Climate Assessment*, eds. Crimmins, A., C. Avery, D. Easterling, K. Kunkel, B. Stewart, and T. Maycock. U.S. Global Change Research Program. https://doi.org/10.7930/NCA5.2023.CH15.

- Heft-Neal, S., C. Gould, M. Childs, M. Kiang, K. Nadeau, M. Duggan, E. Bendavid, and M. Burke. 2023. "Behavior Mediates the Health Effects of Extreme Wildfire Smoke Events." NBER Working Paper 30969. National Bureau of Economic Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w30969</u>.
- Hernstadt, E. and T. Dinan. 2020. "CBO's Projection of the Effect of Climate Change on US Economic Output." Working Paper 2020-06, Congressional Budget Office. https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/2020-09/56505-Climate-Change.pdf.
- Hino, M. and M. Burke. 2021. "The Effect of Information about Climate Risk on Property Values." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118, no. 17: e2003374118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2003374118</u>.
- Hoel, M., and T. Sterner. 2007. "Discounting and Relative Prices." *Climatic Change* 84, no. 3: 265-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-007-9255-2</u>.
- Hornbeck, R. 2012. "The Enduring Impact of the American Dust Bowl: Short-and Long-Run Adjustments to Environmental Catastrophe." *American Economic Review* 102, no. 4: 1477-507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.102.4.1477</u>.
- Hottenrott, H. and S. Rexhäuser. 2015. "Policy-Induced Environmental Technology and Inventive Efforts: Is There a Crowding Out?" *Industry and Innovation*, 22, no. 5: 375-401. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2015.1064255.
- Hsiang, S. 2016. "Climate Econometrics." *Annual Review of Resource Economics*, 8: 43-75. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-resource-100815-095343.
- Hsiang, S. and A. Jina. 2014. "The Causal Effect of Environmental Catastrophe on Long-Run Economic Growth: Evidence From 6,700 Cyclones." NBER Working Paper 20352. National Bureau of Economic Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w20352</u>.
- Hsiang, S., R. Kopp, A. Jina, J. Rising, M. Delgado, S. Mohan, D. Rasmussen, R. Muir-Wood, P. Wilson, M. Oppenheimer, K. Larsen, and T. Houser. 2017. "Estimating Economic Damage from Climate Change in the United States." *Science* 356, no. 6345: 1362–69, <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aal4369</u>.
- Hsiang, S., S. Greenhill, J. Martinich, M. Grasso, R. Schuster, L. Barrage, D. Diaz, H. Hong, C. Kousky, T. Phan, M. Sarofim, W. Schlenker, B. Simon, and S. Sneeringer. 2023.
 "Economics." Chapter 19 in: *Fifth National Climate Assessment*, eds. Crimmins, A., C. Avery, D. Easterling, K. Kunkel, B. Stewart, and T. Maycock. U.S. Global Change Research Program. <u>https://doi.org/10.7930/NCA5.2023.CH19</u>.
- Hunter, L., S. Murray, and F. Riosmena. 2013. "Rainfall Patterns and U.S. Migration from Rural Mexico." *International Migration Review* 47, no. 4: 874-909. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/imre.12051</u>.
- Ilhan, E., P. Krueger, Z. Sautner, and L. Starks. 2023. "Climate Risk Disclosure and Institutional Investors." *The Review of Financial Studies* 36, no. 7: 2617-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhad002</u>.

- International Energy Agency (IEA). 2022. "The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions." World Energy Outlook Special Report. <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/ffd2a83b-8c30-4e9d-980a-</u> <u>52b6d9a86fdc/TheRoleofCriticalMineralsinCleanEnergyTransitions.pdf</u>.
- International Energy Agency (IEA). 2023a. "Net Zero Roadmap: A Global Pathway to Keep the 1.5 °C Goal in Reach." <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/net-zero-roadmap-a-global-pathway-to-keep-the-15-0c-goal-in-reach</u>.
- International Energy Agency (IEA). 2023b. "Average Lead Times to Build New Electricity Grid Assts in Europe and the United States, 2010-2021." Last updated January 12. <u>https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/average-lead-times-to-build-new-electricity-grid-assets-in-europe-and-the-united-states-2010-2021</u>.
- Izaguirre, C., I. Losada, P. Camus, J. Vigh, J and V. Stenek. 2021. "Climate Change Risk to Global Port Operations." *Nature Climate Change* 11, no. 1: 14-20. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-00937-z.
- Jay, A., A. Crimmins, C. Avery, T. Dahl, R. Dodder, B. Hamlington, A. Lustig, K. Marvel, P. Méndez-Lazaro, M. Osler, A. Terando, E. Weeks, and A. Zycherman. 2023. "Overview: Understanding Risks, Impacts, and Responses." Chapter 1 in: *Fifth National Climate Assessment*, eds. Crimmins, A., C. Avery, D. Easterling, K. Kunkel, B. Stewart, and T. Maycock. U.S. Global Change Research Program. https://doi.org/10.7930/NCA5.2023.CH1.
- Jeon, W. 2023. "Pricing Externalities in the Presence of Adaptation." Working paper. <u>https://woongchanjeon.com/research/project/Adaptation/Jeon_Adaptation_December2023.pd</u> <u>f</u>.
- Jessoe, K., D. Manning, and J. Taylor. 2018. "Climate Change and Labour Allocation in Rural Mexico: Evidence from Annual Fluctuations in Weather." *The Economic Journal* 128, no. 608: 230-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ecoj.12448</u>.
- Joint Global Change Research Institute (JGCRI). n.d. a "GCAM v7 Documentation: Global Change Analysis Model (GCAM)." Pacific Northwest National Laboratory and the University of Maryland, College Park. <u>https://jgcri.github.io/gcam-doc/</u>.
- Joint Global Change Research Institute (JGCRI). n.d. b "GCAM v7 Documentation: GCAM-USA." Pacific Northwest National Laboratory and the University of Maryland, College Park. <u>https://jgcri.github.io/gcam-doc/gcam-usa.html</u>.
- Kaczan, D. and J. Orgill-Meyer. 2020. "The Impact of Climate Change on Migration: A Synthesis of Recent Empirical Insights." *Climatic Change* 158, no. 3: 281-300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-019-02560-0</u>.
- Kalkuhl, M., and L. Wenz. 2020. "The Impact of Climate Conditions on Economic Production. Evidence from a Global Panel of Regions." *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 103: 102360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2020.102360</u>.
- Kjellstrom, T., R. Kovats, S. Lloyd, T. Holt, and R. Tol. 2009. "The Direct Impact of Climate Change on Regional Labor Productivity." *Archives of Environmental & Occupational Health* 64, no. 4: 217-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19338240903352776</u>.

- Kline, P. and E. Moretti. 2014. "Local Economic Development, Agglomeration Economies, and the Big Push: 100 Years of Evidence from the Tennessee Valley Authority." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 129, no. 1: 275-331. https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjt034.
- Knutson, T. 2024. "Global Warming and Hurricanes: An Overview of Current Research Results." Last revised April 12. Geophysical Fluid Dynamic Laboratory, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. <u>https://www.gfdl.noaa.gov/global-warming-andhurricanes/</u>.
- Kompas, T., V. Pham, and T. Che. 2018. "The Effects of Climate Change on GDP by Country and the Global Economic Gains from Complying with the Paris Climate Accord." *Earth's Future* 6, no. 8: 1153-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2018EF000922</u>.
- Lamperti, F., G. Dosi, M. Napoletano, A. Roventini, and A. Sapio. 2018. "Faraway, So Close: Coupled Climate and Economic Dynamics in an Agent-Based Integrated Assessment Model." *Ecological Economics* 150: 315-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2018.03.023</u>.
- Lawrence, J., P. Blackett, and N. Cradock-Henry. 2020. "Cascading Climate Change Impacts and Implications." *Climate Risk Management* 29: 100234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2020.100234</u>.
- Lazard. 2023. "Lazard's Levelized Cost of Energy Analysis—Version 16.0." https://www.lazard.com/media/2020ovyg/lazards-lcoeplus-april-2023.pdf.
- Liefert, W., L. Mitchell, and R. Seeley. 2021. "Economic Crises and U.S. Agricultural Exports." Economic Research Report Number 282, Economic Research Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture. <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/101036/err-282.pdf?v=1966.8</u>.
- Lin, H. and J. Voas. 2023. "Lower Energy Large Language Models (LLMs)." *Computer* 56, no. 10: 14-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/MC.2023.3278160</u>.
- Lontzek, T., Y. Cai, K. Judd, and T. Lenton. 2015. "Stochastic Integrated Assessment of Climate Tipping Points Indicates the Need for Strict Climate Policy." *Nature Climate Change* 5, no. 5: 441-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2570</u>
- Marten, A., A. Schreiber, and A. Wolverton. 2024. "SAGE Model Documentation (2.1.1)." Office of Policy, Environmental Protection Agency. <u>https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2024-</u>03/sage_model_documentation_2_1_1_1.pdf.
- Martínez-Martínez, A., S. Esteve-Pérez, S. Gil-Pareja, and R. Llorca-Vivero. 2023. "The Impact of Climate Change on International Trade: A Gravity Model Estimation." *The World Economy* 46, no. 9: 2624-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/twec.13464</u>.
- Maurer, N. and C. Yu. 2008. "What TR Took: The Economic Impact of the Panama Canal, 1903–1937." *The Journal of Economic History* 68, no. 3: 686-721. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022050708000612.
- McKibbin Software Group. n.d. "About the G-Cubed Model." <u>http://www.gcubed.com/software/g_cubed.html</u>.
- McNulty, B. and S. Jowitt. 2021. "Barriers to and Uncertainties in Understanding and Quantifying Global Critical Mineral and Element Supply." *iScience* 24, no. 7: 102809. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2021.102809</u>.

- Meiler, S., A. Ciullo, C. Kropf, K. Emanuel, and D. Bresch. 2023. "Uncertainties and Sensitivities in the Quantification of Future Tropical Cyclone Risk." *Communications Earth* & *Environment* 4: 371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-023-00998-w</u>.
- Mercure, J., F. Knobloch, H. Pollitt, L. Paroussos, S. Scrieciu, and R. Lewney. 2019. "Modelling Innovation and the Macroeconomics of Low-Carbon Transitions: Theory, Perspectives and Practical Use." *Climate Policy* 19, no. 8: 1019-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2019.1617665</u>.
- MIT Joint Program on the Science and Policy of Global Change. n.d. "EPPA Model Structure." https://globalchange.mit.edu/research/research-tools/eppa.
- Moore, F., U. Baldos, T. Hertel, and D. Diaz. 2017. "New Science of Climate Change Impacts on Agriculture Implies Higher Social Cost of Carbon." *Nature Communications* 8: 1607. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01792-x</u>.
- Moore, F., J. Rising, N. Lollo, C. Springer, V. Vasquez, A. Dolginow, C. Hope, and D. Anthoff. 2018. "Mimi-PAGE, an Open-Source Implementation of the PAGE09 Integrated Assessment Model." *Scientific Data* 5: 180187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2018.187</u>.
- Mulder, P. and C. Kousky. 2023. "Risk Rating without Information Provision." *AEA Papers and Proceedings* 113: 299-303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/pandp.20231102</u>.
- Mullins, J. and P. Bharadwaj. 2021. "Weather, Climate, and Migration in the United States." NBER Working Paper 28614. National Bureau of Economic Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w28614</u>.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. 2017. Valuing Climate Damages: Updating Estimation of the Social Cost of Carbon Dioxide. The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/24651</u>.
- National Intelligence Council (NIC). 2021. "National Intelligence Estimate: Climate Change and International Responses Increasing Challenges to US National Security Through 2040." NIC-NIE-2021-10030-A. Office of the Director of National Intelligence. <u>https://www.dni.gov/files/ODNI/documents/assessments/NIE_Climate_Change_and_Nationa_1_Security.pdf</u>.
- National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL). n.d. "JEDI: Jobs & Economic Development Impact Models." Department of Energy. <u>https://www.nrel.gov/analysis/jedi/</u>.
- Nath, I., V. Ramey, and P. Klenow. 2023. "How Much Will Global Warming Cool Global Growth?" Working paper. https://econweb.ucsd.edu/~vramey/research/NRK_GlobalWarming_GlobalGrowth.pdf.
- Nawrotzki, R. and J. DeWaard. 2016. "Climate Shocks and the Timing of Migration from Mexico." *Population and Environment* 38: 72-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-016-0255-x</u>.
- Neidell, M., J. Graff Zivin, M. Sheahan, J. Willwerth, C. Fant, M. Sarofim, and J. Martinich. 2021. "Temperature and Work: Time Allocated to Work under Varying Climate and Labor Market Conditions." *PLOS ONE* 16, no. 8: e0254224. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0254224.

- Network of Central Banks and Supervisors for Greening the Financial System (NGFS). n.d. "NGFS Publications." <u>https://www.ngfs.net/en/liste-chronologique/ngfs-publications</u>.
- Neumann, J., P. Chinowsky, J. Helman, M. Black, C. Fant, K. Strzepek, and J. Martinich. 2021. "Climate Effects on US Infrastructure: The Economics of Adaptation for Rail, Roads, and Coastal Development." *Climatic Change* 167: 44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-021-03179-</u> <u>w</u>.
- Newell, R., B. Prest, and S. Sexton. 2021. "The GDP-Temperature Relationship: Implications for Climate Change Damages." *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 108: 102445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2021.102445</u>.
- Noailly, J. and R. Smeets. 2015. "Directing Technical Change from Fossil-Fuel to Renewable Energy Innovation: An Application using Firm-Level Patent Data." *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, 72: 15-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2015.03.004</u>.
- Nordhaus, W. 2011. "Estimates of the Social Cost of Carbon: Background and Results from the RICE-2011 Model." NBER Working Paper 17540. National Bureau of Economic Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w17540</u>.
- Nordhaus, W. 2017. "Integrated Assessment Models of Climate Change." *The Reporter*, October 10. National Bureau of Economic Research. https://www.nber.org/reporter/2017number3/integrated-assessment-models-climate-change.
- Office of Management and Budget (OMB). 2022. "Federal Budget Exposure to Climate Risk." Chapter 21 in: Analytical Perspectives, Budget of the U.S. Government, Fiscal Year 2023. U.S. Government Publishing Office. <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2023-PER.pdf#page=278</u>.
- Office of Management and Budget (OMB). 2023. "Budget Exposure to Increase Cost and Lost Revenue Due to Climate Change." Chapter 10: in Analytical Perspectives, Budget of the U.S. Government, Fiscal Year 2025. U.S. Government Publishing Office. <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2024-PER/pdf/BUDGET-2024-PER.pdf#page=111</u>.
- Office of Management and Budget (OMB). 2024. "Analysis of Federal Climate Financial Risk Exposure." Chapter 11 in Analytical Perspectives, Budget of the U.S. Government, Fiscal Year 2025. U.S. Government Publishing Office. <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BUDGET-2025-PER/pdf/BUDGET-2025-PER.pdf#page=112</u>.
- Okuyama, Y. 2003. "Economics of Natural Disasters: A Critical Review." Research Paper 2003-12. Regional Research Institute Working Papers, West Virginia University. <u>https://researchrepository.wvu.edu/rri_pubs/131/</u>
- Otto, C., K. Kuhla, T. Geiger, J. Schewe, and K. Frieler. 2023. "Better Insurance Could Effectively Mitigate the Increase in Economic Growth Losses from U.S. Hurricanes under Global Warming." *Science Advances* 9, no. 1: eadd6616. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.add6616.
- Parilla, J., G. Haskins, L. Bermel, L. Hansmann, M. Muro, R. Cummings, and B. Deese. 2024. "Strategic Sector Investments Are Poised to Benefit Distressed US Counties." The Brookings

Institution. February 13. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/articles/strategic-sector-investments-are-poised-to-benefit-distressed-us-counties/</u>.

- Parrado, R., F. Bosello, E. Delpiazzo, J. Hinkel, D. Lincke, and S. Brown. 2020. "Fiscal Effects and the Potential Implications on Economic Growth of Sea-Level Rise Impacts and Coastal Zone Protection." *Climatic Change* 160, no. 2: 283-302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-020-02664-y</u>.
- Patel, P., J. Edmonds, S. Kim, X. Zhao, D. Sheng, S. Waldhoff, and E. Lochner. 2023. "Core Model Proposal #332: GCAM Macro-Economic Module (KLEM Version)." Joint Global Change Research Institute, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory and the University of Maryland, College Park. PNNL-34479. <u>https://jgcri.github.io/gcam-doc/cmp/332-GCAM Macro Economic Module KLEM.pdf</u>.
- Pindyck, R. 2021. "What We Know and Don't Know about Climate Change, and Implications for Policy." *Environmental and Energy Policy and the Economy* 2: 4-43. <u>http://doi.org/10.1086/711305</u>.
- Piontek, F., L. Drouet, J. Emmerling, T. Kompas, A. Méjean, C. Otto, J. Rising, B. Soergel, N. Taconet, and M. Tavoni. 2021. "Integrated Perspective on Translating Biophysical to Economic Impacts of Climate Change." *Nature Climate Change* 11, no. 7: 563-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-021-01065-y</u>.
- Pisani-Ferry, J. and S. Mahfouz. 2023. "The Economic Implications of Climate Action." France Stratégie. <u>https://www.strategie.gouv.fr/sites/strategie.gouv.fr/files/atoms/files/2023-</u> <u>the economic implications of climate action-report 08nov-15h-couv.pdf</u>.
- Pollitt, H. and J. Mercure. 2018. "The Role of Money and the Financial Sector in Energy-Economy Models Used for Assessing Climate and Energy Policy." *Climate Policy* 18, no. 2: 184-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2016.1277685</u>.
- Popp, D. 2004. "ENTICE: Endogenous Technological Change in the DICE Model of Global Warming." *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 48, no. 1: 742-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2003.09.002</u>.
- Popp, D. and R. Newell. 2012. "Where Does Energy R&D Come From? Examining Crowding Out from Energy R&D." *Energy Economics* 34, no. 4: 980-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2011.07.001</u>.
- Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research. n.d. "REMIND." <u>https://www.pik-potsdam.de/en/institute/departments/transformation-pathways/models/remind</u>.
- President's Council of Advisors on Science and Technology (PCAST). 2023. "Extreme Weather Risk in a Changing Climate: Enhancing Prediction and Protecting Communities." Executive Office of the President. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-</u> content/uploads/2023/04/PCAST_Extreme-Weather-Report_April2023.pdf.
- Ramey, V. and M. Shapiro. 2001. "Displaced Capital: A Study of Aerospace Plant Closing." *Journal of Political Economy* 109, no. 5: 958-992. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/322828</u>.
- Rasmussen, D., M. Meinshausen, and R. Kopp. 2016. "Probability-Weighted Ensembles of U.S. County-Level Climate Projections for Climate Risk Analysis." *Journal of Applied*

Meteorology and Climatology 55, no. 10: 2301-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/JAMC-D-15-0302.1</u>.

- Rennert, K., B. Prest, W. Pizer, R. Newell, D. Anthoff, C. Kingdon, L. Rennels, R. Cooke, A. Raftery, H. Ševčíková, and F. Errickson. 2021. "The Social Cost of Carbon: Advances in Long-Term Probabilistic Projections of Population, GDP, Emissions, and Discount Rates." *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 2021, no. 2: 223-305. https://doi.org/10.1353/eca.2022.0003.
- Rennert, K., F. Errickson, B. Prest, L. Rennels, R. Newell, W. Pizer, C. Kingdon, J. Wingenroth, R. Cooke, B. Parthum, D. Smith, K. Cromar, D. Diaz, F. Moore, U. Müller, R. Plevin, A. Raftery, H. Ševčíková, H. Sheets, J. Stock, T. Tan, M. Watson, T. Wong, and D. Anthoff. 2022. "Comprehensive Evidence Implies a Higher Social Cost of CO₂." *Nature* 610, no. 7933: 687–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05224-9.
- Rode, A., T. Carleton, M. Delgado, M. Greenstone, T. Houser, S. Hsiang, A. Hultgren, A. Jina, R. Kopp, K. McCusker, I. Nath, J. Rising, and J. Yuan. 2021. "Estimating a Social Cost of Carbon for Global Energy Consumption." *Nature* 598, no. 7880: 308-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03883-8</u>.
- Rode, A., R. Baker, T. Carleton, A. D'Agostino, M. Delgado, T. Foreman, D. Gergel, M. Greenstone, T. Houser, S. Hsiang, A. Hultgren, A. Jina, R. Kopp, S. Malevich, K. McCusker, I. Nath, M. Pecenco, J. Rising, and J. Yuan. 2022. "Labor Disutility in a Warmer World: The Impact of Climate Change on the Global Workforce." SSRN Working Paper 4221478. <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=4221478</u>.
- Roson, R., and M. Sartori. 2016. "Estimation of Climate Change Damage Functions for 140 Regions in the GTAP 9 Database." *Journal of Global Economic Analysis* 1, no. 2: 78–115, <u>https://doi.org/10.21642/JGEA.010202AF</u>.
- Sanders, K. 2015. "Critical Review: Uncharted Waters? The Future of the Electricity-Water Nexus." *Environmental Science & Technology* 49, no. 1: 51-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es504293b</u>.
- Seneviratne, S., X. Zhang, M. Adnan, W. Badi, C. Dereczynski, A. Di Luca, S. Ghosh, I. Iskandar, J. Kossin, S. Lewis, F. Otto, I. Pinto, M. Satoh, S. Vicente-Serrano, M. Wehner, and B. Zhou. 2021. "Weather and Climate Extreme Events in a Changing Climate." Chapter 11 in *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis: Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds. Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J. Matthews, T. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 1513–766. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009157896.013</u>.
- Skidmore, C. 2022. "Mission Zero: Independent Review of Net Zero." Department for Energy Security and Net Zero and Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, United Kingdom, <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/63c0299ee90e0771c128965b/mission-zeroindependent-review.pdf</u>.
- Somanathan, E., R. Somanathan, A. Sudarshan, A. and M. Tewari. 2021. "The Impact of Temperature on Productivity and Labor Supply: Evidence from Indian

Manufacturing." *Journal of Political Economy* 129, no. 6: 1797-827. https://doi.org/10.1086/713733.

- Stern, D. and K. Enflo. 2013. "Causality between Energy and Output in the Long-Run." *Energy Economics* 39: 135-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2013.05.007.
- Strobl, E. 2011. "The Economic Growth Impact of Hurricanes: Evidence from U.S. Coastal Counties." *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 93, no. 2: 575-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/REST_a_00082</u>.
- Tol, R. 2024. "A Meta-Analysis of the Total Economic Impact of Climate Change." *Energy Policy* 185: 113922. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2023.113922</u>.
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). 2023. "Grain Transportation Report." Agricultural Marketing Service, November 23. <u>https://www.ams.usda.gov/sites/default/files/media/GTR11232023.pdf</u>.
- Van Nostrand, E. and M. Ashenfarb. 2023. "The Inflation Reduction Act: A Place-Based Analysis." Department of the Treasury, November 29. <u>https://home.treasury.gov/news/featured-stories/the-inflation-reduction-act-a-place-based-analysis</u>.
- Van Nostrand, E. and L. Feiveson. 2023. "The Inflation Reduction Act and U.S. Business Investment." Department of the Treasury, August 16. <u>https://home.treasury.gov/news/featured-stories/the-inflation-reduction-act-and-us-business-investment.</u>
- Varvares, C. 2023. Remarks given during "Session 6: Next Steps—Applying Insights" of Incorporating Climate into Macroeconomic Modeling: A Workshop. Available on sixth part of Video Playlist ("Day 2 | Part 3"). Roundtable on Macroeconomics and Climate-related Risks and Opportunities, National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. <u>nationalacademies.org/event/39824_06-2023_incorporating-climate-into-macroeconomicmodeling-a-workshop</u>.
- Way, R., M. Ives, P. Mealy, and J. Farmer. 2022. "Empirically Grounded Technology Forecasts and the Energy Transition." *Joule* 6, no. 9: 2057-82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2022.08.009</u>.
- White House Office. 2023. "Clean Energy Tax Provisions in the Inflation Reduction Act." Executive Office of the President. Last updated September 21. https://www.whitehouse.gov/cleanenergy/clean-energy-tax-provisions/.
- White House Office. n.d. "Justice40: A While of Government Initiative." Executive Office of the President. <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/environmentaljustice/justice40/</u>.
- Wiser, R., J. Rand, J. Seel, P. Beiter, E. Baker, E. Lantz, and P. Gilman. 2021. "Expert Elicitation Survey Predicts 37% to 49% Declines in Wind Energy Costs by 2050." *Nature Energy* 6, no. 5: 555-565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-021-00810-z</u>.
- Zamuda, C., D. Bilello, J. Carmack, X. Davis, R. Efroymson, K. Goff, T. Hong, A. Karimjee, D. Loughlin, S. Upchurch, and N. Voisin. 2023. "Energy Supply, Delivery, and Demand." Chapter 5 in: *Fifth National Climate Assessment*, eds. Crimmins, A., C. Avery, D. Easterling,

K. Kunkel, B. Stewart, and T. Maycock. U.S. Global Change Research Program. https://doi.org/10.7930/NCA5.2023.CH5.

Zeniewski, P., G. Molnar, and P. Hugues. 2023. "Europe's Energy Crisis: What Factors Drove the Record Fall in Natural Gas Demand in 2022?" Commentary—14 March. International Energy Agency. <u>https://www.iea.org/commentaries/europe-s-energy-crisis-what-factors-</u> <u>drove-the-record-fall-in-natural-gas-demand-in-2022</u>.

APPENDIX

Appendix A: Additional Details on Downscaling

This Appendix presents an example of a procedure for downscaling global mean surface temperature (GMST) to population-weighted U.S. temperature. This methodology was developed by Rasmussen et al. (2016) and is used in Carleton et al. (2022) and Rode et al. (2021).⁶³

The approach proceeds in two steps. In the first step, one can generate GMST anomaly, \overline{GMST} , based on climate models and climate model surrogates that emulate the full distribution of climate sensitivities.⁶⁴ GMST anomaly is relative to average GMST between 2001 and 2010.

In the second step, one can then estimate the relationship between GMST and annual average daily population-weighted continental U.S. temperature (CONUS) as

$$C\widetilde{ONUS}_{\tau,g,t} = \beta \ \widetilde{GMST}_{g,t} + \varepsilon_{\tau,g,t}, \tag{A.1}$$

where τ is a U.S. county, g is the climate model, and t is time in years. The coefficient estimated from this model, $\hat{\beta}$, can be used to downscale GMST to population-weighted U.S. temperature, which is used in the top-down econometric methods described in <u>Appendix B</u>.

⁶³ We are particularly grateful to Tamma Carleton for sharing methodology and code.

⁶⁴ The tails of the distribution of climate sensitives are completed using emulated data.

Appendix B: Approaches for Physical Risk Projections

This Appendix begins with theory showing how temperature can affect GDP levels and growth rates. It then shows how these two effects can be separately estimated empirically if there were no data limitations and how they have been estimated in practice to date. We then show how to project GDP in a macroeconomic forecast based on these two effects. While we focus on the temperature-GDP relationship, the issues raised here are not unique to the relationship. They can arise for the effects from other greenhouse gas–driven changes in local environmental variables (e.g., hurricane activity, drought/flood intensity, etc.) or for other macroeconomic variables (e.g., interest rates, employment, etc.).

1. Theory

To show how temperature can affect GDP levels and growth rates, we reproduce the theoretical framework in Dell et al. (2012), which follows the derivation in Bond et al. (2010). Consider the following single factor economy in country i and year t:

$$Y_{i,t} = e^{\theta T_{i,t}} A_{i,t} L_{i,t},$$
 (A.1)

where *Y* is aggregate output, *L* measures population, and *A* measures labor productivity. The exponential functional form allows the parameter θ to have a percentage effect on output level for a unit change in temperature $T_{i,t}$. Furthermore, we assume that the growth rate in productivity takes the form

$$\Delta \ln(A_{i,t}) = g_i + \gamma T_{i,t}, \tag{A.2}$$

where $\Delta \ln(A_{i,t}) = \ln(A_{i,t}) - \ln(A_{i,t-1})$, g_i is the country's baseline growth rate and γ is the effect of a unit change in temperature on the growth rate. Rewriting equation (A.1) as per capita output, $y_{i,t} = \frac{Y_{i,t}}{L_{i,t}}$, taking first differences of logs, and inserting equation (A.2) yields

$$\Delta \ln(y_{i,t}) = (\theta + \gamma)T_{i,t} - \theta T_{i,t-1} + g_i.$$
(A.3)

Now, consider the same object rewritten as

$$\Delta \ln(y_{i,t}) = \beta_0 T_{i,t} + \beta_1 T_{i,t-1} + g_i.$$
(A.4)

A regression of the GDP per capita growth rate on only contemporaneous temperature produces a coefficient that combines both growth and level effects and is thus unable to separate the two effects. Distinguishing growth and level effects of temperature requires a regression of growth rate of GDP per capita on contemporaneous and lagged temperatures. In that regression, the coefficient on current temperature reveals the sum of the growth and level effects, $\beta_0 = (\theta + \gamma)$, and the coefficient on lagged temperature reveals the level effect of temperature, $\beta_1 = -\theta$. The sum of the coefficients on contemporaneous and lagged temperatures reveals the growth effect of temperature, $\beta_0 + \beta_1 = \gamma$. The same reasoning applies to models where past temperature has time varying effects on productivity growth. One can write a generalized version of equation A.2 from t = 0 to some t = p:

$$\Delta \ln(A_{i,t}) = g_i + \gamma_0 T_{i,t} + \gamma_1 T_{i,t-1} + \gamma_2 T_{i,t-2} + \dots + \gamma_p T_{i,t-p},$$
(A.5)

such that one can estimate the regression

$$\Delta \ln(y_{i,t}) = \sum_{j=0}^{p} \beta_j T_{i,t-j} + g_i,$$
(A.5)

where the cumulative growth effect is revealed by the sum of current and lagged coefficients on temperature, or $\sum_{j=0}^{p} \beta_j = \sum_{j=0}^{p} \gamma_j$.

2. Estimation

In practice, most researchers use country-by-year data to estimate some variant of equation A.3:

$$\Delta \ln(y_{i,t}) = \beta_1 T_{i,t} + \beta_2 T_{i,t}^2 + \lambda_1 P_{i,t} + \lambda_2 P_{i,t}^2 + \mu_i + \upsilon_t + \varepsilon_{i,t}.$$
 (A.6)

Compared with equation A.3., equation A.6 allows a quadratic relationship between temperature and GDP per capita growth and includes controls for population-weighted quadratic precipitation $P_{i,t}$, country-specific fixed effects μ_i (which includes any country-specific time invariant determinant of growth, including g_i), and year-specific fixed effects v_t to capture annual shocks common to all countries. Estimation of equation A.6, by omitting lagged temperature terms, cannot differentiate between whether a contemporaneous temperature shock has a growth or level effect. Even if lagged temperature terms are included, they are often imprecisely estimated such that a researcher may not have statistical support for the absence or presence of growth effects (e.g., <u>Burke et al. 2015</u>). Whether there are level or growth effects matters for the approach to projecting GDP per capita, which we discuss in the next section in the context of a macroeconomic forecast.

Growth and level effects can be also be estimated structurally with computable general equilibrium models.⁶⁵

3. Projection

Assuming the regression specification in equation A.6, define $h(T_{i,t}) = \beta_1 T_{i,t} + \beta_2 T_{i,t}^2$. Next, define the difference between projected temperature in future year *t* and the last year of historical data—2023 for expositional purposes—as $\Delta_{i,t} = h(T_{i,t}) - h(T_{i,2023})$.

⁶⁵ Applying a structural model may necessitate interpolating between values presented in a given paper. For example, Kompas et al. (<u>2018</u>) show the annual percent change in U.S. GDP due to climate change at 1°C, 2°C, 3°C, and 4°C warming relative to 1986–2005 (Table 2). One can fit a linear model to interpolate these estimates for additional temperature values.

Under the assumption that temperature has a level effect on GDP per capita, one can interpret $\Delta_{i,t}$ as a temperature-dependent version of the constant level effect structural parameter θ . Projected GDP per capita can then expressed as

$$y_{i,t} = \left(1 + \Delta_{i,t}\right) y_{i,t}^F, \tag{A.7}$$

where $y_{i,t}^F$ denotes the baseline macroeconomic forecast.

If, alternatively, one assumes that temperature has a growth effect on GDP per capita, one can interpret $\Delta_{i,t}$ as a temperature-dependent version of the constant growth effect structural parameter γ . ⁶⁶ Projected GDP per capita can then be expressed as

$$y_{i,t} = y_{i,t-1} * (1 + g_{i,t}^F + \Delta_{i,t}), \tag{A.8}$$

where g_i remains the country's baseline growth rate but includes: (1) an *F* superscript to clarify that it is the baseline growth rate in a macroeconomic forecast; and (2) a *t* subscript, given that the forecast may vary from year to year. The initial value of $y_{i,t-1}$ is the last year of available data.

⁶⁶ Note that this expression differs from its analog in Burke et al. (2015) (see Supplementary Materials equation 20), who calculate $\Delta_{i,t}$ with reference to average temperature over the previous 30 years, rather than end-of-history temperature.

Appendix C: Details on the Global Change Analysis Model

To augment the results from multi-model studies, we illustrate different macroeconomically relevant characteristics of the transition to a clean energy economy using the Global Change Analysis Model (GCAM), as recommended in CEA and OMB (2023). GCAM is developed by the Joint Global Change Research Institution (JGCRI), in collaboration between the University of Maryland and the Pacific Northwest National Laboratory (PNNL). This Appendix provides a brief description of GCAM, contextualizes it with respect to the discussion in Section 3B, and summarizes the two GCAM scenarios used to illustrate transition dynamics in <u>Section 3B</u>.

1. GCAM background

GCAM is an open-source, global, multi-sector dynamics model.⁶⁷ It includes an energy-economy model that integrates regional information on land, population, and current technology; the supply and demand of various resources (energy sources, water, crops, livestock, forests); and a climate module that tracks GHG emissions. GCAM's economic module begins with external projections of population, labor force participation, labor productivity growth rates, and GDP. It then produces estimates of commodity prices, commodity production, power-sector investment, energy use, land use, water use, and GHG emissions for each of its regions.

Within the framework outlined in <u>Step 1</u> of <u>Section 3B</u>, GCAM captures many important attributes of the clean energy transition and factors influencing it. For example, its multi-sector nature enables it to capture dynamics across energy, transportation, industry, and agriculture (including forestry and land use). It is global in scale, covering 32 separate regions, including one for the United States.⁶⁸ However, its five-year time step limits the degree to which the model can capture macroeconomically relevant frictions. Additionally, in the version employed to generate our projections, the macroeconomy is exogenously determined. More recently, JGCRI released a new version of GCAM with an endogenous macroeconomy (Patel et al. 2023).

GCAM also accounts for many of the key determinants influencing the pace, scale, and scope of the clean energy transition (Step 2 of Section 3B). GCAM captures both improvements to existing clean technologies and the availability of relatively novel technologies (e.g., carbon capture and storage), though both sets of features are externally determined. GCAM is flexible enough to account for nonprice policies, as well as price policies, an important attribute when accounting for the policies applied in the United States. Regarding frictions, GCAM applies capital irreversibilities and can therefore project capital retirements stemming from changes in economic competitiveness. Other frictions, such as labor and financial frictions, are not explicitly accounted for but may be indirectly captured through the model's calibration process.

2. GCAM's Reference and Current Policies scenarios

This analysis uses two scenarios: the "GCAM Reference" and the "GCAM Current Policies" scenarios. The GCAM Reference scenario assumes no new major domestic climate policies after

⁶⁷ For more details, see JGCRI (n.d. a) for GCAM's technical documentation.

⁶⁸ An extended version of GCAM, GCAM-USA (<u>JGCRI n.d. b</u>), allows the generation of state-level projections within the global GCAM model.

2015 (GCAM's calibration date) and no explicit international climate policy in any year. It includes post-2015 changes in Corporate Average Fuel Economy standards, state-level light-duty and freight-electric vehicle targets and mandates, and clean energy tax credits for 2020. It also includes a planned coal-fired electricity generation phaseout and no new construction of unabated coal or nuclear plants. The incorporation of these post-2015 policies helps bring the Reference scenario closer to a counterfactual without major recently enacted U.S. policies like the IRA. Consequently, the differences between GCAM's Current Policies and Reference scenarios more closely resemble the differences presented in recent multi-model studies examining the effects of the IRA (e.g., EPA 2023b; Bistline et al. 2024).

The GCAM Current Policies scenario incorporates major policy developments after 2015. For the United States, those developments include the IRA, the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law,⁶⁹ and 2023–2026 Light-Duty Vehicle Standards. Importantly, this scenario only includes legislation or final regulations and therefore does not reflect fully the Biden-Harris Administration's regulatory agenda.⁷⁰ Like GCAM's Reference scenario, the Current Policies scenario assumes a planned phaseout of coal-fired electricity generation and no new construction of unabated coal or nuclear plants. Outside of the United States, other countries' climate policies are based on their Nationally Determined Contributions starting in 2020. Box C.1 lists the IRA provisions modeled.

Box C.1 IRA Policies Included in the GCAM Current Policies Scenario

Electricity Sector

- Section 13101 Production tax credit (PTC) extension
- Section 13102 Investment tax credit (ITC) extension
- Section 13015 PTC for existing nuclear
- Section 13302 Residential clean energy credit
- Section 13701 New clean electricity PTC
- Section 13702 New clean electricity ITC
- Section 50144 Energy community reinvestment financing
- Section 13104 45Q: extension of credits for captured CO₂

Transportation Sector

- Sections 13201/13202 Extension of incentives for biofuels
- Section 13203 Sustainable aviation biofuels
- Section 13401 Clean vehicle credit
- Section 13403 Commercial clean vehicle credit
- Section 13404 Alternative refueling property credit
- Section 13704 Clean fuel PTC

⁶⁹ Bipartisan Infrastructure Law provisions include Federal investments supporting charging infrastructure for EVs and investments for school and transit bus electrification.

⁷⁰ For example, it does not account for the proposed revisions to the Section 111 regulation of GHG emissions from electricity-generating units. Additionally, the Current Policies scenario was established prior to the finalization of the post-2026 Light- and Heavy-Duty Vehicle emissions standards.

Buildings Sector

- Section 13304 Energy efficient home credit
- Section 50121 Home energy efficiency credit

Industry and Other Sectors

- Section 13204 45V: production credits for clean hydrogen
- Section 21001 Additional agricultural conservation investments
- Section 60113 Methane emissions reduction program

Figure C.1 shows the trajectories in US GHG emissions for the two scenarios through 2050. Current Policies results in a 36 percent reduction in GHG emissions in 2030, compared with 2005, in line with estimates from other modeling studies (e.g., EPA 2023b). GHG emissions start to increase again post-2035 in Current Policies, as some of the IRA's provisions start to expire. The Reference scenario results in a 33 percent reduction in U.S. GHG emissions from 2005, in part reflecting the assumptions of planned coal power plant phaseout, no new unabated coal-fired power plants, and existing state-level light duty and freight EV targets and mandates. While the IRA provisions were not modeled separately, the largest reductions in U.S. GHG emissions from 2020 through 2035 are in the electricity sector (41 percent decline), followed by transport (32 percent decline) and buildings (11 percent decline).⁷¹





Source: Pacific Northwest National Laboratory

Note: LULUCCF: Land Use, Land Use Change, and Forestry. BioCCS: Bio-energy Carbon Capture and Storage.

⁷¹ Percent changes reflect internal calculations by PNNL.